

# Journal of Cardiovascular Emergencies

Volume 3 Issue 1 March 2017



Atherosclerosis, Hypertension and Acute Coronary Syndromes

Computed Tomography and Acute Cardiac Care

Acute Peri-Myocarditis and Ventricular Function

**ISSN** 2457-550X print 2457-5518 online Editor-in-Chief Imre BENEDEK

www.jce.ro



# Journal of Cardiovascular Emergencies

Volume 3 - Issue 1 - March 2017

# Contents

# EDITORIAL

5 Atherosclerosis-Triggered Hypertension or Hypertension-Triggered Atherosclerosis? A Challenging Hypothesis

# REVIEW

9 Automatic Segmentation Techniques of the Coronary Artery Using CT Images in Acute Coronary Syndromes

Sándor Miklós Szilágyi, Monica Marton Popovici, László Szilágyi

# **ORIGINAL RESEARCH**

18 The Assessment of Epicardial Adipose Tissue in Acute Coronary Syndrome Patients. A Systematic Review

Theodora Benedek, Diana Opincariu, Nora Rat, Roxana Hodas, András Mester, Imre Benedek

**30** Regional Wall Motion Abnormalities and Ventricular Function in Acute Peri-Myocarditis

> Claudia Matei, András Mester, Daniel Cernica, Roxana Hodas, Lehel Bordi

# **CLINICAL UPDATE**

**36** Computed Tomography — an Emerging Tool for Triple Rule-Out in the Emergency Department. A Review

Mihaela Dobra, Lehel Bordi, Tiberiu Nyulas, Alexandra Stănescu, Mirabela Morariu, Sebastian Condrea, Theodora Benedek

# **CASE REPORT**

- **41** Role of the Methylene Tetrahydrofolate Reductase (MTHFR) Gene Mutation in Acute Myocardial Infarction Beáta Jakó, János Sinkó
- 44 Multiple Mediastinal Arteriovenous Fistulas in a Patient with Myocardial Ischemia Symptoms and Tachy-Brady Arrhythmias István Kovács, Sebastian Condrea, Ioana Rodean, Daniel Cernica



# Journal of Cardiovascular Emergencies

# **Editorial Board**

# EDITOR-IN-CHIEF

Imre Benedek University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Tîrgu Mureş, Romania

# **MANAGING EDITOR**

Theodora Benedek University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Tîrgu Mureş, Romania

# **EDITORIAL BOARD**

Şerban Bălănescu University of Medicine and Pharmacy "Carol Davila", București, Romania

Mircea Cinteză University of Medicine and Pharmacy "Carol Davila", București, Romania István Édes University of Debrecen, Hungary

Tamás Forster University of Szeged, Hungary

Dietmar Glogar University of Vienna, Austria

Mariann Gyöngyösi Medical University of Vienna, Austria

Ota Hlinomaz University of Brno, Czech Republic

Adrian Iancu University of Medicine and Pharmacy "Iuliu Hațieganu", Cluj-Napoca, Romania

Róbert Gábor Kiss Semmelweis University, Budapest , Hungary

Béla Merkely Semmelweis University, Budapest, Hungary Ario Santini University of Edinburgh, United Kingdom

Tamás Simor University of Pécs, Hungary

Tamás Szili-Török Erasmus Medical Center, Rotterdam, the Netherlands

Dragoș Vinereanu University of Medicine and Pharmacy "Carol Davila", București, Romania

# **TECHNICAL EDITOR**

Zoltán Sárkány

# INDEXING

The Journal of Cardiovascular Emergencies is indexed in the following international databases:

- Baidu Scholar
- Celdes
- CNKI Scholar (China National Knowledge Infrastructure)
- CNPIEC
- EBSCO Discovery Service
- Google Scholar

- J-Gate
- Naviga (Softweco)
- Primo Central (ExLibris)
- ReadCube
- Summon (Serials Solutions/ProQuest)
- TDOne (TDNet)
- WorldCat (OCLC)



# Aims and scope

The Journal of Cardiovascular Emergencies is the official journal of the Transylvanian Association of Transvascular Therapy and Transplantation Kardiomed, Tîrgu Mureş, Romania, and is published quarterly.

The Journal of Cardiovascular Emergencies aims to publish top quality papers related to acute conditions in any cardiovascular pathology.

The journal will mainly focus on recent advances in the field of diagnosis and treatment of the most common causes of cardiovascular emergencies, including acute coronary syndromes, acute heart failure, acute aortic diseases, pulmonary embolism, peripheral arterial diseases or cardiac arrhythmia. Interdisciplinary approaches will be extremely welcomed, presenting new advances in the approach of different other pathologies (i.e. stroke) from the cardiovascular perspective.

The Journal of Cardiovascular Emergencies will publish high-quality basic and clinical research related to these

topics, in a common approach that will integrate the clinical studies with the pre-clinical work dedicated to discovery of new mechanisms involved in the development and progression of acute cardiovascular conditions.

Especially in the case of acute coronary syndromes, the journal will try to provide the entire cardiology community with the perspective of the regional cardiology networks in Central and Eastern European countries, reflecting the regional model of care in cardiovascular acute conditions.

The journal will primarily focus on publishing original research papers, but also other types of materials (such as review articles, case reports, state-of-the-art papers, comments to editor, etc) will be extremely welcomed.

The Journal of Cardiovascular Emergencies has institutional support from the Transylvanian Association of Transvascular Therapy and Transplantation Kardiomed, Tîrgu Mureş, Romania, the owner of the journal.





EDITORIAL

# Atherosclerosis-Triggered Hypertension or Hypertension-Triggered Atherosclerosis? A Challenging Hypothesis

# Imre Benedek

University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Tîrgu Mureş, Romania

Despite the significant progress encountered in recent years in the field of diagnostic techniques, key aspects involved in the development and progression of atherosclerosis are not fully understood. Based on clinical observations of acute coronary syndromes in young patients with angiographically normal coronary arteries, a new premise can be proposed to explain some of the mechanisms involved in atheromatous plaque formation. This hypothesis is that, even in the oscillating phase, hypertension is a trigger for the development of atherosclerotic disease due to mechanical stress.

This premise represents the starting point of a chicken and egg argument: does atherosclerosis lead to hypertension, or do repeated episodes of hypertension lead to atherosclerosis?

# ACUTE CORONARY SYNDROMES WITH SLOW-FLOW PATTERN IN NON-OBSTRUCTED CORONARY ARTERIES. CLINICAL OBSERVATIONS GENERATING THE HYPOTHESIS

The hypothesis is based on data recorded in several patients aged between 23 and 44 years, presenting in the emergency department of our institution with typical angina, electro-cardiographic (ECG) changes highly suggestive of ischemia, and positive cardiac enzymes.

In these patients, coronary angiography showed the absence of any obstructions or significant stenosis in the coronary arteries and an abnormal non-laminar coronary flow located in the middle segment of the left anterior descending coronary artery (Figure 1A). Optical coherence tomography (OCT) showed the presence of a dissection in the subendothelial layer of the coronary wall at the level of the turbulent flow (Figure 1B). In all these patients, repeated episodes of hypertension preceded an angina attack.

In the proposed hypothesis, the following are proposed as characteristics associated with a new pattern of acute cardiac patient seen in an emergency setting:

- repeated episodes of hypertension;
- presenting with chest pain;
- ECG changes and positive cardiac enzymes;
- coronary angiography indicating slow flow in at least one coronary artery;
- OCT revealing the presence of subendothelial dissection.

# FROM HYPERTENSION TO ATHEROGENESIS DUE TO MECHANICAL STRESS

Repeated episodes of a sudden increase in the blood pressure can cause the abrupt dilatation of the coronary wall, which becomes wrinkled on returning to its original shape. This wrinkled surface can lead to the alteration of shear stress and, at the same time, of the circumferential stress inside the coronary lumen, contributing to endothelial dysfunction and the development of turbulent coronary flow at this level.

The endothelium that usually protects the coronary wall is exposed to altered luminal forces caused by the in-



**FIGURE 1.** Invasive assessment of coronary arteries in a young patient with typical chest pain. A – Coronary angiography indicating absence of any obstructions or any significant stenosis in the coronary arteries and an abnormal non-laminar coronary flow located in the middle segment of the left anterior descending coronary artery. B – Optical coherence tomography (OCT) indicating the presence of a dissection in the sub-endothelial layer of the coronary wall at the level of the turbulent flow.

crease in wall stress during repeated episodes of hypertension, leading to a dilatation of the coronary wall. Once dilated, the coronary wall becomes "wrinkled" when it returns to its original shape, on the return of blood pressure to normal values. This "wrinkled" contour leads to modifications of the typical structure of the arterial wall in the region adjacent to the endothelium, increase in circumferential stress, and alteration of the shear stress. As a result, the endothelium will lose its elastic properties, generating a turbulent laminar coronary flow.

At the same time, during these repeated episodes of coronary wall dilation and contraction the vasa vasorum are compressed, causing alterations of the nutrition of the coronary wall, temporary modifications of the fibroblasts, alteration of endothelial integrity, and dissection. The endothelial structures lose their contact with internal structures, and the process is continued by fibroblast deposition, proliferation, and mastocyte migration. The recurrence of subsequent episodes of hypertension leads to the augmentation of these processes, finally resulting in atherosclerosis (Figure 2).

# PATHOPHYSIOLOGICAL SUBSTRATE OF SUBCLINICAL ATHEROSCLEROSIS — A CONTINUING MYSTERY?

In spite of recent progress in understanding the physiopathology of acute coronary syndromes, many key aspects involved in the development of this disease remain unclear. For instance, many patients presenting at an emergency department with typical chest pain, an electrocardiographic pattern characteristic for acute myocardial infarction, and a significant raise in cardiac enzymes have normal coronary arteries as shown by routine coronary angiography. According to reported studies, acute coronary syndromes in patients with normal coronary arteries, as indicated by angiography, have a prevalence of 10 to 20%.<sup>1,2</sup> This distinct pathophysiological entity is termed "acute coronary syndromes with angiographically normal coronary arteries". Different theories have been proposed to explain the cause of this odd clinical presentation, such as coronary vasospasm, coronary embolism, myocardial bridging, or coronary artery dissection.<sup>1-3</sup> When no possible cause can be identified, this clinical presentation is termed "coronary X syndrome", an expression suggestive of the fact that the etiology remains a mistery, and though attempts have been made to associate this atypical presentation with a possible etiological factor, as yet no direct relation has been proven.<sup>3,4</sup>

# ENDOTHELIAL DYSFUNCTION — THE PATHWAY FROM HYPERTENSION TO ATHEROSCLEROSIS

The role of endothelial dysfunction (ED) in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis and in the initiation and progression



FIGURE 2. From hypertension to atherogenesis via mechanical stress

of coronary artery disease has been described and demonstrated.<sup>5–7</sup> When ED occurs, the endothelium loses its protective role and becomes a pro-atherosclerotic player, releasing pro-atherogen and vasoconstrictor substances and mediators, such as endothelin ET-1, thromboxane A2, prostaglandin H2, and reactive oxygen species.<sup>7</sup>

The increased parietal stress caused by arterial hypertension leads to a reduction in the nitric oxide (NO) production at the level of the vessel intima, and, subsequently, to an increase in the production of free radicals. The augmented oxidative stress associated with ED promotes vascular lesions, platelet aggregation, smooth muscle fiber proliferation, increased macrophage migration, and an overall promotion of inflammation.<sup>4,5,8</sup> This is probably the key pathophysiologic link between hypertension and typical atherosclerosis.

Different types of pressure are exerted on the arterial wall. The normal stress caused by blood pressure acts perpendicularly to the arterial wall, while the so-called "shear stress", or fluid-wall shear stress, acts parallel to the wall. At the same time, cells within the arterial wall are exposed to circumferential wall stress, which varies according to the elastic properties of the vessel.<sup>9</sup>

A low arterial shear stress, below 4 dyne/cm<sup>2</sup>, has been demonstrated to be frequently encountered at the level of atherosclerotic plaques, being associated with an atherogenic phenotype and plaque vulnerability.<sup>9</sup>

# SUBENDOTHELIAL CORONARY DISSECTION — A NOVEL FINDING IN ACUTE CORONARY SYNDROMES WITH ANGIOGRAPHICALLY NORMAL CORONARY ARTERIES

Vascular remodeling, arterial stiffness, increased and altered parietal, circumferential and shear stress caused by hypertension, along with the inflammatory process, increased oxidative stress, and endothelial dysfunction, may contribute to the development of lesions in the vascular wall.

An increased intracoronary pressure may also lead to rupture of the vasa vasorum, resulting in a subintimal hemorrhage and an intramural hematoma, a condition associated with acute chest pain, though the coronary lumen retains a typical appearance on the coronary angiography.<sup>10</sup>

These alterations of the coronary wall structure are, in most cases, difficult to diagnose using coronary angiography, as this technique allows visualization of the coronary lumen and detection of the luminal narrowing without providing any information about the vessel wall.<sup>11</sup> This can explain the angiographically normal aspect of coronary arteries in patients with acute coronary syndromes and a slow-flow pattern. The assessment of coronary wall structure has become possible in recent years, following the introduction of optical coherence tomography, which has become the golden standard technique for visualization of ruptures in the coronary endothelium.<sup>1</sup> The technigur allows the identification of zones with even minimal subendothelial dislocation of the coronary vessel layers, the so-called subendothelial dissection, which is another form of separation between the media and adventitia, distinct from the intramural hematoma and the classical endothelial dissection. This subendothelial dissection could be a starting point for the advancement of the atherosclerotic process. Repeated episodes of a sudden raise in blood pressure are present in the history of almost all patients with coronary artery atheromatous plaques and may represent the key element that triggers the destructuration of the endothelium leading to subendothelial dissection. In severe cases, this subendothelial dissection becomes manifest immediately, and the patient presents at an ER with typical chest pain, without any significant luminal narrowing as shown by coronary angiography. In less severe cases this remains clinically silent but may still trigger the future development of an atheromatous process via a complex mechanism involving endothelial dysfunction, alteration of wall nutrition due to compression of vasa vasorum, macrophage accumulation, and increase of the parietal stress leading to non-laminar flow.

#### **CONFLICT OF INTEREST**

Nothing to disclose.

#### REFERENCES

- Chacon-Hernanzez N, Miguel-Cervera DS, Vilar-Herrero JV, Rumiz-Gonzales E, Berenguer-Jofresa A, Morell-Cabedo S. Acute Coronary Syndrome in Patients with Normal Coronary Arteries: An Optical Coherence Tomography Study. Rev Esp Cardiol. 2015;68:531-543. doi: 10.1016/j.rec.2015.01.005.
- 2. Lanza G, Careri G, Stazi A, et al. Clinical Specturm and Outcome of Patients With Non–ST–Segment Elevation Acute Coronary Syndrome and No Obstructive Coronary Atherosclerosis. Circulation Journal. 2016;80:1600–1606. doi: 10.1253/circj.CJ–16–0145.
- Agrawal S, Mehta PK, Bairey Merz CN. Cardiac Syndrome X – Update 2014. Cardiol Clin. 2014;32:463-478. doi: 10.1016/j. ccl.2014.04.006.
- Arroyo-Espliguero R, Kaski JC. Microvascular dysfunction in cardiac syndrome X: the role of inflammation. CMAJ. 2006;174:1833-1834. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.051331.
- Versari D, Daghini E, Virdis A, Ghiadoni L, Taddei S. Endothelium-dependent contractions and endothelial dysfunction in human hypertension. Br J Pharmacol. 2009;157:527-536. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.2009.00240.x.
- 6. Taddei S, Ghiadoni L, Virdis A, Versari D, Salvetti A. Mechanisms of endothelial dysfunction: clinical significance and preventive non-pharmacological therapeutic strategies. Curr Pharm Des. 2003;9:2385-2402.
- Brunner H, Cockcroft JR, Deanfield J, et al. Endothelial function and dysfunction. Part II: Association with cardiovascular risk factors and diseases. A statement by the Working Group on Endothelins and Endothelial Factors of the European Society of Hypertension. J Hypertens. 2005;23:233-246.
- 8. Dharmashankar K, Widlansky ME. Vascular Endothelial Function and Hypertension: Insights and Directions. Curr Hypertens Rep. 2010;12:448–455. doi: 10.1007/s11906–010– 0150–2.
- 9. Malek AM, Alper SL, Izumo S. Hemodynamic shear stress and its role in atherosclerosis. JAMA. 1999;282:2035-2042.
- Yip A, Saw J. Spontaneous coronary artery dissection A review. Cardiovasc Diagn Ther. 2015;5:37–38. doi: 10.3978/j. issn.2223-3652.2015.01.08.
- Alfonso F, Bastante T, Garcia-Guimaraes M, et al. Spontaneous coronary artery dissection: new insights into diagnosis and treatment. Coron Artery Dis. 2016;27:696–706. doi: 10.1097/ MCA.000000000000412.



REVIEW

# Automatic Segmentation Techniques of the Coronary Artery Using CT Images in Acute Coronary Syndromes

Sándor Miklós Szilágyi<sup>1</sup>, Monica Marton Popovici<sup>2</sup>, László Szilágyi<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Informatics, Petru Maior University, Tîrgu Mureş, Romania

<sup>2</sup> Swedish Medical Center, Department of Anesthesiology and Critical Care, Seattle, USA

<sup>3</sup> Department of Electrical Engineering, Sapientia University, Tîrgu Mureş, Romania

#### ABSTRACT

Coronary artery disease represents one of the leading reasons of death worldwide, and acute coronary syndromes are their most devastating consequences. It is extremely important to identify the patients at risk for developing an acute myocardial infarction, and this goal can be achieved using noninvasive imaging techniques. Coronary computed tomography angiog-raphy (CCTA) is currently one of the most reliable methods used for assessing the coronary arteries; however, its use in emergency settings is sometimes limited due to time constraints. This paper presents the main characteristics of plaque vulnerability, the role of CCTA in the assessment of vulnerable plaques, and automatic segmentation techniques of the coronary artery tree based on CT angiography images. A detailed inventory of existing methods is given, representing the state-of-the-art of computational methods applied in vascular system segmentation, focusing on the current applications in acute coronary syndromes.

**Keywords:** image segmentation, computed tomography, pattern recognition coronary artery disease, emergency cases

#### **ARTICLE HISTORY**

Received: 13 January, 2017 Accepted: 19 February, 2017

#### CORRESPONDENCE

#### Sándor Miklós Szilágyi Str. N. Iorga nr. 1 540088 Tîrgu Mureş, Romania Tel: +40 265 262 275 E-mail: sandoor.szilagyi@science.upm.ro

# **ACUTE CORONARY SYNDROMES**

Coronary artery disease (CAD) is one of the leading causes of death worldwide, responsible for the death of millions every year.<sup>1</sup> World Health Organization (WHO) statistics show that in 2012, 31% of all deaths were caused by cardiovascular disease, from which 7.4 million were due to coronary heart disease.<sup>2</sup> Acute coronary syndromes (ACS) are among the most severe complications of atherosclerosis, and the majority, although not all, take place due to atheromatous plaque rupture and subsequent thrombosis.<sup>3</sup>

# **VULNERABLE ATHEROMATOUS PLAQUES**

The genesis of the atheroma is triggered by the appearance of a discontinuity in the endothelial layer, followed by an array of complex mechanical, biochemical, and biological mechanisms that will eventually lead to plaque formation.<sup>4–6</sup> The formed atherosclerotic plaque will undergo several pathophysiological changes, including the excessive accumulation of oxidized LDL-cholesterol, enhanced local inflammation, smooth muscle cell proliferation, and extracellular matrix degradation, which will eventually lead to its progression and destabilization.<sup>7</sup>

Monica Marton Popovici: Swedish Medical Center, Department of Internal Medicine and Critical Care, 21601, 76th Ave W, Edmonds, Washington, 98026, USA. Tel: +1 (202) 425 640 4000. E-mail: monica.marton-popovici@swedish.org



In an attempt to define the complications related to atherosclerotic plaques and to find the pathophysiological mechanism of acute coronary syndromes, the concept of "vulnerable plaque" was developed.<sup>8</sup> The definition of the vulnerable coronary plaque comprises an increased propensity towards rupture, erosion, and thrombosis.<sup>9,10</sup>

A vulnerable plaque is described as having a thin fibrous cap and a large necrotic lipid core that initially causes an eccentric vascular remodeling (positive remodeling) followed by luminal stenosis and impaired distal blood flow.<sup>11–13</sup> Other features of unstable coronary lesions include an increased local inflammation,<sup>14</sup> extracellular matrix degradation,<sup>15</sup> neo-vessel formation within the plaque with subsequent hemorrhage,<sup>16,17</sup> as well as calcium formation in the form of spotty calcifications.<sup>18</sup>

Even though the most common fate of an unstable plaque is to rupture, a significant percentage of acute coronary syndromes were shown to be caused by coronary plaque erosion.<sup>19</sup> Lesions that suffer erosions seem to not show the established characteristics of a vulnerable plaque, usually presenting a thick cap, decreased necrotic cores and lower inflammation degree.<sup>20</sup> Thus came the idea that a vulnerable plaque is not as much prone to rupture, but more prone to causing an acute event.<sup>21</sup>

#### SHEAR STRESS AND VULNERABLE PLAQUES

The complex pathophysiological mechanism of atherosclerosis includes, besides progressive endothelial injury, local inflammation, and vascular remodeling, also hemodynamic alterations.<sup>22</sup> It was shown that there is an increased occurrence of coronary plaques in vascular regions with high shear stress, such as bifurcations or near vascular curvatures.<sup>23</sup> Also, the protrusion of the atheroma in the vessel lumen causes a shift from a normal, laminar flow, with evenly distributed transverse and shear stress, to a turbulent flow.<sup>24</sup> Coronary shear stress (CSS) has been shown to influence the progression of coronary plaques by causing structural and functional changes in the endothelium, enzymatic changes, release of bioactive markers, and gene transcription.<sup>25,26</sup> Low shear stress (LSS) leads to misalignment of the endothelial cells, increased permeability to circulating lipid molecules and inflammatory cytokines, as well as high expression of adhesion molecules, growth factors, and high reactive oxygen species.<sup>22,27–29</sup> In the context of increased systemic cardiovascular risk factors, the dysfunctional endothelium and increased inflammatory status augment the process of plaque growth and cause additional alterations of the endothelial shear stress.<sup>30</sup> High shear stress exposure presents a protective effect on healthy ves-

sels, but if a stenotic lesion is present, it indorses plaque vulnerabilization.<sup>31</sup> High shear stress contributes to plaque destabilization by increased nitric oxide expression and extracellular matrix degradation by stimulating the expression of matrix metalloproteases, increased production of proteolytic enzymes, and apoptosis.<sup>32–34</sup> Furthermore, an increased CSS can stimulate plaque denudation and erosion, which, if associated with an enhanced blood thrombogenicity, lead to acute vessel occlusion and the occurrence of an ACS.<sup>21,35</sup> Shear stress distribution across coronary stenotic lesions appears to be low in the distal region of the plaque, whilst a high stress is mainly present in the proximal part.<sup>36,37</sup> In order to maintain the physiological shear stress, vascular remodeling occurs as an adaptive process,<sup>38</sup> thus a high CSS stimulates an outward remodeling, while a low CSS exposure will lead to an inward remodeling with vessel narrowing.39

### METHODS FOR THE ASSESSMENT OF VULNERABLE PLAQUE CHARACTERISTICS

There are several established methods for the assessment of biomarkers characteristic for plaque instability, acquired with both invasive and noninvasive techniques.<sup>40</sup> The invasive methods include intravascular ultrasound (IVUS) with its different variations (virtual histology IVUS, iMAP IVUS, and integrated backscatter IVUS), which can assess with high accuracy the total plaque burden, necrotic core, neo-vessel formation, calcifications, as well as the vessel remodeling percentage.41-43 Optical coherence tomography (OCT), which uses near-infrared light for image acquisition, allows evaluation of the fibrous cap, collagen amount, neoangiogenesis, plaque rupture and thrombus formation; its variant, micro-OCT, is able to offer a histological level of accuracy in the process of plaque component visualization.<sup>21,44,45</sup> Other invasive methods for evaluating unstable coronary plaques include invasive coronary thermography (which measures plaque temperature),<sup>46</sup> near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS – better visualization of necrotic cores),47 and also combinations of the above-mentioned methods.48,49 Coronary computed tomography angiography (CCTA) has emerged as the most used technique for noninvasive plaque evaluation, being able to identify several CT biomarkers for plaque instability.40 The advantages of this method are that it is noninvasive, it allows the visualization of the complete coronary tree, and it also holds the ability to analyze both the vascular lumen and the wall.<sup>50</sup> Moreover, recent developments have led to an increase in image quality and resolution, by using multiple slice scans with ECG-gated protocols that allow imaging acquisition in a single heartbeat, during diastole, thus eliminating motion artifacts.<sup>51,52</sup> CCTA displays an increased rule-out capacity for lesion identification and quantification, and studies have shown that its detection accuracy is comparable to invasive methods (IVUS and OCT), even if it does not hold the ability for fibrous cap identification.<sup>21,53,54</sup> Major advantages of the latter are: 3D data collection and visualization, as well as information on arterial calcification and vascular distortion.<sup>55</sup> The markers for plaque vulnerability that are identified by CCTA are the presence and size of the necrotic core (which appears as a hypodense area within the plaque),<sup>56,57</sup> low attenuation plaques,<sup>58</sup> positive remodeling (and calculation of the remodeling index),<sup>59</sup> the presence of the napkin-ring sign,<sup>60</sup> and microcalcification within the plaque (referred to as spotty calcifications).<sup>61,62</sup> CCTA is also able to evaluate the overall degree of calcification of the coronary tree by using the coronary artery calcium score, which has been shown to have a high predictive capacity for major adverse cardiovascular events, being combined with traditional cardiovascular risk factors (c-statistic of 0.93).<sup>63</sup>

Other applications of CCTA include the noninvasive assessment of coronary blood flow and the function significance of coronary lesions, with the use of CT-based fractional flow reserve (CT-FFR),<sup>64,65</sup> as well as the transluminal attenuation gradient through a coronary stenosis.<sup>66</sup> Nevertheless, CCTA has a great potential of being integrated into computational simulation models for coronary flow and fluid dynamics, which will allow the analysis of plaque conduct in physiological and pathological circumstances.<sup>21</sup> Computational models are the sole methods that are currently able to integrate both the external (hemodynamic) and internal (characteristics of plaque) markers for instability in order to achieve a global understanding of the conditions that lead to plaque erosion and rupture with the subsequent occurrence of an acute coronary syndrome.<sup>21,67,68</sup> One of the most important drawbacks of computational simulation models is the increased time needed for image reconstruction, but with recent developments, the time has been reduced from weeks<sup>69</sup> to less than two hours,<sup>70</sup> which will make it possible for computational plaque analysis to be performed as a part of a living vessel.<sup>21</sup>

Accurately identifying coronary plaques is challenging, especially when using noninvasive methods such as CCTA. The problems encountered in the CT analysis of coronary plaques include the presence of non-calcified lesions, small sized vessels, as well as motion artifacts that can be diminished by using ECG-gated CT protocols, multiplanar image acquisition and vessel segmentation, and vascular tree reconstruction techniques. $^{71,72}$ 

#### **CORONARY TREE SEGMENTATION**

The segmentation of vascular trees is a widely researched topic. The literature includes several studies that follow the data-driven approach, namely they treat the notion of the vascular tree in a general way, as a set of inter-connected tubular structures, with possible bifurcations and stenoses, but without using any anatomical information. These studies usually concentrate on image quality enhancement for vessel recognition,<sup>73</sup> accurate detection of bifurcations and branches,<sup>74–77</sup> extraction of the most probable centerline,<sup>78,79</sup> vessel diameter estimation,<sup>79,80</sup> and the identification of odd structures.<sup>81,82</sup> Although they are very important in the development of useful medical data processing techniques, these general studies do not take into consideration any anatomical information of a chosen vessel tree.

On the other hand, the literature also includes studies on arterial tree segmentation procedures designed for and tested on specific arterial networks. The major part of such studies focuses on the coronary artery tree (CAT),<sup>83,84</sup> but there are several works developed for the pulmonary arteries,<sup>85–88</sup> cerebral arteries,<sup>89</sup> the carotid artery,<sup>90</sup> and vessels of the retina.<sup>91,92</sup>

# SEGMENTATION METHODS FOR CORONARY ARTERIES IN ACUTE CORONARY SYNDROMES

#### DATA-DRIVEN SEGMENTATION METHODS

Cimen *et al.*<sup>93,94</sup> proposed a method to reconstruct 3D views of the CAT from 2D X-ray images based on a probabilistic mixture model and maximum likelihood estimation. Hu *et al.*<sup>95</sup> proposed a two-step solution for the same problem: in a first stage they extracted artery tree boundaries via minimal path segmentation, then applied maximum a posteriori (MAP) reconstruction using L0-norm and L1-norm priors. Fallavollita and Cheriet<sup>96</sup> provided a 3D coronary artery reconstruction technique from reduced number of 2D X-ray fluoroscopy images that follows the non-rigid movement of arteries, significantly decreasing the reconstruction error.

Gülsün *et al.*<sup>97</sup> employed computed flow fields to eliminate shortcuts in automatically detected blood vessel centerlines, and Kitamura *et al.*<sup>98</sup> used a Markov Random Field framework and AdaBoost classifier for vascular structure segmentation, assisted by topological constraints in order to avoid inconsistency in the vascular network. Dufour et al.99 combined the Hessian matrix approach and the graylevel hit-or-miss transform to obtain vessel candidate pixels in CTA data, which were later classified using decision trees. Krissian et al.<sup>100</sup> established a geodesic level set framework to semi-automatically detect the aorta with its main bifurcations and branches, extract the centerline of each branch, and identify the presence of aortic dissection. Zhou *et al.*<sup>83</sup> introduced the notion of multiscale coronary response, a robust method designed to find coronary arteries via combining 3D multiscale filtering, analysis of the eigenvalues of the Hessian matrices, and expectation maximization (EM) estimation techniques. They also employed a 3D dynamic balloon tracking method to extract complete artery trees. Shang *et al.*<sup>101</sup> defined a vector field based on the eigenanalysis of the Hessian matrix and used it to assist a 3D active contour model in the detection of vascular structures.

#### **MODEL-DRIVEN SEGMENTATION METHODS**

The most part of recently developed CAT segmentation methods follows the model-based or the model-driven approach, through involving anatomical models or atlases to improve the segmentation accuracy. Model-based methods start with extracting relevant information from the recorded image data, but in a later processing phase they match the extracted information with predefined atlases or models.

Shin et al.<sup>102</sup> employed a manually annotated 2D fluoroscopic X-ray image as reference and proposed a technique to extract coronary vessels from further images via vessel correspondence optimization. Liu et al.<sup>103,104</sup> proposed a model-guided centerline extraction method based on ostia detection via directional minimal paths and validated it on the three main branches of the CAT in CTA image data. Sun et al.<sup>105</sup> deployed a previously recorded 3D vessel model of the same patient to track the position of various branches within 2D X-ray angiograms, using exploratory shortest paths within the graph model of the vessels. Medrano-Garcia et al.<sup>106</sup> built a coronary artery atlas using 122 CTA records of zero calcium score, providing a comprehensive and accurate assessment of the anatomy, including 3D size, geometry, and shape descriptors.

In model-driven methods the identification of vessels and centerlines relies on a priori defined cardiovascular models. For example, the method proposed by Zheng *et al.*<sup>107</sup> automatically segments the heart chambers and then uses an anatomical model to automatically track various branches of the CAT. The model helps the centerline tracing procedure to avoid early termination at severe occlusions and to generate anatomically consistent centerlines.

#### THE DESIGN OF THE SEGMENTATION METHOD

The main steps of the proposed solution include preprocessing, seed extraction for region growing, data-driven segmentation via robust fuzzy region growing, centerline extraction, model-based validation and vessel identification, and post-processing.<sup>108-112</sup>

# THE USE OF CT IN EMERGENCY SETTINGS AND FOR ACUTE CORONARY SYNDROMES

The use of CCTA has been shown to be feasible and useful for patients who present in the emergency department for acute chest pain, but have equivocal laboratory and elec-trocardiographic (ECG) modifications. The Rule Out Myo-cardial Infarction/Ischemia Using Computer Assisted To-mography (ROMICAT-I) trial included 368 patients with acute chest pain, normal initial troponin values, and no signs of myocardial ischemia on the initial ECG.113 The results showed that emergency CCTA had a high negative predictive value (100% in the absence of CAD, 98% in the presence of significant coronary lesions) in ruling out an acute coronary syndrome.<sup>113</sup>

Another trial on the use of CCTA in the emergency department (ED), which included 1,000 patients with acute chest pain, showed that in comparison to a traditional diagnostic procedure (invasive coronary angiography), the hospitalization index was decreased by 7.6 h (period of stay in the emergency department), and a significantly larger number of patients had been discharged straight from the ED (47% for CCTA vs. 12% for the invasive approach).<sup>114</sup>

As it allows rule-out of acute pulmonary embolism, aortic dissection, and acute coronary syndromes, depiction of the complete coronary anatomy, illustration of the coronary vessel lumen, identification of vulnerable plaque features, as well as the coronary artery calcium score, CCTA is a valuable method for emergency triage and patient management, for the decision-making process and prognosis assessment of patients with coronary artery disease, all in a noninvasive stand-alone procedure.<sup>55,115–117</sup> The noninvasive visualization of plaque characteristics and severity of the coronary artery disease in patients with non-ST elevation acute coronary syndromes at baseline, was shown to predict recurrent adverse events.<sup>118</sup>

#### CONCLUSIONS

Computational methods can be easily applied in the vascular system for coronary artery tree segmentation using CTA image volumes. This interdisciplinary approach can provide a solid background for a complex assessment of the coronary tree, especially in settings when estimation of the degree of plaque vulnerability can be crucial for the future evolution of the patients.

### **CONFLICT OF INTEREST**

Nothing to declare.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This work was supported by the UEFISCDI PN-III-P2-2.1-BG-2016-0343 national research project.

### REFERENCES

- Roger VL, Go AS, Lloyd-Jones DM, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics – 2012 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2012;125:e2-e220. doi: 10.1161/ CIR.0b013e31823ac046.
- World Health Organization, Cardiovascular disease (CVDs), 2016. Available from: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/ factsheets/fs317/en/#
- 3. Choy SY, Mintz GS. What have we learned about plaque rupture in acute coronary syndromes? Curr Cardiol Rep. 2010;12:338-343. doi: 10.1007/s11886-010-0113-x.
- 4. Tominaga J, Fukunaga Y, Abelardo E, Nagafuchi A. Defining the function of beta-catenin tyrosine phosphorylation in cadherin-mediated cell-cell adhesion. Genes Cells. 2008;13:67-77. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2443.2007.01149.x.
- Cheruvu PK, Finn AV, Gardner C, et al. Frequency and distribution of thin-cap fibroatheroma and ruptured plaques in human coronary arteries: a pathologic study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2007;50:940-949. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2007.04.086.
- 6. Saybolt MD, Lilly SM, Patel D, et al. The vulnerable artery: early and rapid deposition of lipid in coronary arteries is associated with subsequent development of thin-cap fibroatheromas. EuroIntervention. 2016;11:e1612-e1618. doi: 10.4244/EIJV11I14A312.
- 7. Stary HC, Chandler AB, Glagov S, et al. A definition of initial, fatty streak, and intermediate lesions of atherosclerosis. A report from the Committee on Vascular Lesions of the Council on Arteriosclerosis, American Heart Association. Circulation 1994;89:2462-2478.
- Finn AV, Nakano M, Narula J, Kolodgie FD, Virmani R. Concept of vulnerable/unstable plaque. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2010;30:1282–1292. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.179739.
- Bourantas CV, Garcia-Garcia HM, Farooq V, et al. Clinical and angiographic characteristics of patients likely to have vulnerable plaques: analysis from the PROSPECT study. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2013;6:1263-1272. doi: 10.1016/j. jcmg.2013.04.015.

- Bentzon JF, Otsuka F, Virmani R, Falk E. Mechanisms of plaque formation and rupture. Circ Res. 2014;114:1852–1866. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.114.30272.
- 11. Schaar JA, Muller JE, Falk E, et al. Terminology for highrisk and vulnerable coronary artery plaques. Eur Heart J. 2004;25:1077-1082. doi:10.1016/j.ehj.2004.01.002.
- 12. Varnava AM, Mills PG, Davies MJ. Relationship between coronary artery remodeling and plaque vulnerability. Circulation. 2002;105:939–943.
- Ota H, Magalhaes MA, Torguson R, et al. The influence of lipid-containing plaque composition assessed by nearinfrared spectroscopy on coronary lesion remodelling. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2016;17:821-831. doi: 10.1093/ ehjci/jev221.
- 14. Hansson GK, Hermansson A. The immune system in atherosclerosis. Nat Immunol. 2011; 12:204–212. doi: 10.1038/ ni.2001.
- 15. Newby A. Metalloproteinases and Vulnerable Atherosclerotic Plaques. Trends Cardiovasc Med. 2010;17:253-258. doi: 10.1016/j.tcm.2007.09.001.
- 16. Taruya A, Tanaka A, Nishiguchi T, et al. Vasa vasorum restructuring in human atherosclerotic plaque vulnerability: a clinical optical coherence tomography study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2015;65:2469–2477. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2015.04.020.
- 17. Yokoya K, Takatsu H, Suzuki T, et al. Process of progression of coronary artery lesions from mild or moderate stenosis to moderate or severe stenosis: a study based on four serial coronary arteriograms per year. Circulation. 1999;100:903– 909.
- Sakaguchi M, Hasegawa T, Ehara S, et al. New insights into spotty calcification and plaque rupture in acute coronary syndrome: an optical coherence tomography study. Heart Vessels. 2016;31:1915–1922. Doi: 10.1007/s00380-016-0820-3.
- 19. Jia H, Dai J, Hou J, et al. Effective anti-thrombotic therapy without stenting: intravascular optical coherence tomography-based management in plaque erosion (the EROSION study). Eur Heart J. 2016;38:792–800. doi: 10.1093/ eurheartj/ ehw381.
- 20. Bentzon JF, Otsuka F, Virmani R, Falk E. Mechanisms of plaque formation and rupture. Circ Res. 2014;114:1852–1866. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.114.302721.
- 21. Stefanidis C, Antoniou C, Tsiachris D, Pietri P. Coronary Atherosclerotic Vulnerable Plaque: Current Perspectives. J Am Heart Assoc. 2017;6:e005543. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.117.005543.
- 22. Thondapu V, Bourantas C, Foin N, et al. Biomechanical stress in coronary atherosclerosis: emerging insights from computational modelling. Eur Heart J. 2017;38:81–92. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehv689.
- 23. McDaniel M, Galbraith E, Jeroudi A, et al. Localization of culprit lesions in coronary arteries of patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarctions: relation to bifurcations and curvatures. Am Heart J. 2011;161:508–515. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2010.11.005.
- 24. Chiu J, Chien S. Effects of Disturbed Flow on Vascular Endothelium: Pathophysiological Basis and Clinical Perspectives. Physiol Rev. 2011;91:327–387. doi: 10.1152/ physrev.00047.2009.
- 25. Koskinas K, Chatzizisis Y, Baker A, Edelman E, Stone P, Feldman L. The role of low endothelial shear stress in the conversion of atherosclerotic lesions from stable to unstable plaque. Curr Opin Cardiol. 2009;24:580-590. doi: 10.1097/ HCO.0b013e328331630b.

- 26. Cunningham KS, Gotlieb AI. The role of shear stress in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. Lab Invest. 2005;85:9-23. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.3700215.
- 27. Chen Z, Peng C, Cui X, LiY S, Chien S, Shyy J. Shear stress, SIRT 1, and vascular homeostasis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2010;107:10268-10273. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1003833107.
- Gambillara V, Montorzi G, Haziza-Pigeon C, Stergiopulos N, Silacci P. Arterial wall response to ex vivo exposure to oscillatory shear stress. J Vasc Res. 2005;42:535–544. doi: 10.1159/000088343.
- 29. Sucosky P, Balachandran K, Elhammali A, Jo H, Yoganathan AP. Altered shear stress stimulates upregulation of endothelial VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 in a BMP-4and TGF-beta1-dependent pathway. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2009;29:254-260. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.176347.
- 30. Gimbrone MA, Topper JN, Nagel T, Anderson KR, Garcia-Cardena G. Endothelial dysfunction, hemodynamic forces, and atherogenesis. Ann NY Acad Sci. 2000;902:230–240.
- 31. Samady H, Eshtehardi P, McDaniel MC, et al. Coronary artery wall shear stress is associated with progression and transformation of atherosclerotic plaque and arterial remodeling in patients with coronary artery disease. Circulation. 2011;124:779-788. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.111.021824.
- 32. Dancu MB, Berardi DE, Vanden Heuvel JP, Tarbell JM. Asynchronous shear stress and circumferential strain reduces endothelial NO synthase and cyclooxygenase-2 but induces endothelin-1 gene expression in endothelial cells. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2004;24:2088-2094. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000143855.85343.0e.
- Gijsen FJH, Mastik F, Schaar JA, et al. High shear stress induces a strain increase in human coronary plaques over a 6-month period. EuroIntervention. 2011;7:121-127. doi: 10.4244/EIJV7I1A20.
- Wang Y, Qiu J, Luo S, et al. High shear stress induces atherosclerotic vulnerable plaque formation through angiogenesis. Regen Biomater. 2016;3:257–267. doi: 10.1093/ rb/rbw021.
- 35. Kramer M, Rittersma S, de Winter R, et al. Relationship of thrombus healing to underlying plaque morphology in sudden coronary death. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2010;55:122-132. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2009.09.007.
- 36. Slager CJ, Wentzel JJ, Gijsen FJ, et al. The role of shear stress in the generation of rupture-prone vulnerable plaques. Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med. 2005;2:401-407.
- 37. Wentzel JJ, Chatzizisis YS, Gijsen FJ, et al. Endothelial shear stress in the evolution of coronary atherosclerotic plaque and vascular remodelling: current understanding and remaining questions. Cardiovasc Res. 2012;96:234–243. doi: 10.1093/cvr/ cvs217.
- Chung WB, Hamburg NM, Holbrook M, et al. The brachial artery remodels to maintain local shear stress despite the presence of cardiovascular risk factors. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2009;29:606–612. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.181495.
- 39. Freidja ML, Toutain B, Caillon A, et al. Heme oxygenase 1 is differentially involved in blood flow-dependent arterial remodeling: role of inflammation, oxidative stress, and nitric oxide. Hypertension. 2011;58:225–231. doi: 10.1161/ HYPERTENSIONAHA.111.170266.
- 40. Benedek T, Mester A, Benedek A, Rat N, Opincariu D, Chițu M. Assessment of Coronary Plaque Vulnerability in Acute

Coronary Syndromes using Optical Coherence Tomography or Intravascular Ultrasound. A systematic Review. Journal of Cardiovascular Emergencies. 2016;2:173–184. doi: 10.1515/ jce-2016-0028.

- 41. Sinclair H, Veerasamy M, Bourantas C, et al. The role of virtual histology intravascular ultrasound in the identification of coronary artery plaque vulnerability in acute coronary syndromes. Cardiol Rev. 2016;24:303–309. doi: 10.1097/CRD.00000000000000000.
- 42. Calvert PA, Obaid DR, O'Sullivan M, et al. Association between IVUS findings and adverse outcomes in patients with coronary artery disease: the VIVA (VH–IVUS in Vulnerable Atherosclerosis) Study. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2011;4:894– 901. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2011.05.005.
- 43. Sathyanarayana S, Carlier S, Li W, Thomas L. Characterisation of atherosclerotic plaque by spectral similarity of radiofrequency intravascular ultrasound signals. EuroIntervention. 2009;5:133-139.
- Jang IK. Optical Coherence Tomography or Intravascular Ultrasound? JACC: Cardiovascular Interventions. 2011;4:492494. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2011.02.004.
- Finn AV, Chandrashekhar Y, Narula J. Vulnerable plaques: from PROSPECT to prospects... JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2012;5:334–336. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2012.02.004.
- 46. Toutouzas K, Synetos A, Stefanadi E, et al. Correlation between morphologic characteristics and local temperature differences in culprit lesions of patients with symptomatic coronary artery disease. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2007;49:2264– 2271. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2007.03.026.
- 47. Madder RD, Goldstein JA, Madden SP, et al. Detection by nearinfrared spectroscopy of large lipid core plaques at culprit sites in patients with acute ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. 2013;6:838-846. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2013.04.012.
- Ughi GJ, Wang H, Gerbaud E, et al. Clinical characterization of coronary atherosclerosis with dual-modality OCT and nearinfrared autofluorescence imaging. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2016;9:1304–1314.
- 49. Matter C, Stuber M, Nahrendorf M. Imaging of the unstable plaque: how far have we got? Eur Heart J. 2009;30:2566–2574. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehp419.
- 50. Rodriguez-Granillo GA, Carrascosa P, Bruining N, Waksman R, Garcia-Garcia HM. Defining the non-vulnerable and vulnerable patients with computed tomography coronary angiography: evaluation of atherosclerotic plaque burden and composition. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2016;17:481-491. doi: 10.1093/ehjci/jew012.
- Achenbach S, Boehmer K, Pflederer T, et al. Influence of slice thickness and reconstruction kernel on the computed tomographic attenuation of coronary atherosclerotic plaque. J Cardiovasc Comput Tomogr. 2010;4:110–115. doi: 10.1016/j. jcct.2010.01.013.
- 52. Yu L, Leng S, McCollough CH. Dual-energy CT-based monochromatic imaging. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2012;199:S9-S15. doi: 10.2214/AJR.12.9121.
- 53. Voros S, Rinehart S, Qian Z, et al. Coronary atherosclerosis imaging by coronary CT angiography: current status, correlation with intravascular interrogation and metaanalysis. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2011;4:537–548. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2011.03.006.
- 54. Motoyama S, Ito H, Sarai M, et al. Plaque characterization by coronary computed tomography angiography and the likelihood of acute coronary events in mid-term follow-

up. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2015;66:337-346. doi: 10.1016/j. jacc.2015.05.069.

- Li ZX, Zhang YT, Liu GZ, Shao HY, Li WM, Tang XL. A robust coronary artery identification and centerline extraction method in angiographies. Biomed Sign Proc Contr. 2015;16:1– 8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bspc.2014.09.015.
- 56. Benedek T, Gyöngyösi M, Benedek I. Multislice computed tomographic coronary angiography for quantitative assessment of culprit lesions in acute coronary syndromes. Can J Cardiol. 2013;29:364–371. doi: 10.1016/j.cjca.2012.11.004.
- 57. Choi BJ, Kang DK, Tahk SJ, et al. Comparison of 64-slice multidetector computed tomography with spectral analysis of intravascular ultrasound backscatter signals for characterizations of noncalcified coronary arterial plaques. Am J Cardiol. 2008;102:988-993. doi: 10.1016/j. amjcard.2008.05.060.
- 58. Motoyama S, Masayoshi S, Harigaya H, et al. Computed tomographic angiography characteristics of atherosclerotic plaques subsequently resulting in acute coronary syndrome. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2009;54:49–57. doi: 10.1016/j. jacc.2009.02.068.
- 59. Kroener E, van Velzen J, Boogers M, et al. Positive remodeling on coronary computed tomography as a marker for plaque vulnerability on virtual histology intravascular ultrasound. Am J Cardiol. 2011;107:1725-1729. doi: 10.1016/j. amjcard.2011.02.337.
- 60. Maurovich-Horvat P, Schlett CL, Alkadhi H, et al. The napkin-ring sign indicates advanced atherosclerotic lesions in coronary CT angiography. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2012;5:1243-1252. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2012.03.019.
- 61. Collin J, Gossl M, Matsuo Y, et al. Osteogenic monocytes within the coronary circulation and their association with plaque vulnerability in patients with early atherosclerosis. Int J Cardiol. 2015;181:57–64. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2014.11.156.
- 62. Thomsen C, Abdulla J. Characteristics of high-risk coronary plaques identified by computed tomographic angiography and associated prognosis: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2016;17:120-129. doi: 10.1093/ ehjci/jev325.
- 63. Hou ZH, Lu B, Gao Y, et al. Prognostic value of coronary CT angiography and calcium score for major adverse cardiac events in outpatients. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2012;5:990–999. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2012.06.006.
- 64. Mester A, Chitu M, Rat N, et al. CT Determination of Fractional Flow Reserve in Coronary Lesions. Journal of Interdisciplinary Medicine. 2016;1:237–241. doi: 10.1515/jim-2016-0070.
- 65. Norgaard B, Leipsic J, Gaur S, et al. Diagnostic performance of noninvasive fractional flow reserve derived from coronary computed tomography angiography in suspected coronary artery disease: the NXT trial (analysis of coronary blood flow using CT angiography: next steps). J Am Coll Cardiol. 2014;63:1145–1155. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2013.11.043.
- 66. Orzan M, Stanescu A, Nyulas T, et al. Transluminal Attenuation Gradient for the Noninvasive Assessment of Functional Significance in Coronary Artery Stenoses. Journal of Interdisciplinary Medicine. 2016;1:267–270. doi: 10.1515/ jim-2016-0074.
- 67. Brown AJ, Teng Z, Evans PC, Gillard JH, Samady H, Bennett MR. Role of biomechanical forces in the natural history of coronary atherosclerosis. Nat Rev Cardiol. 2016;13:210–220. doi: 10.1038/nrcardio.2015.203.

- 68. Ohayon J, Finet G, Le Floc'h S, et al. Biomechanics of atherosclerotic coronary plaque: site, stability and in vivo elasticity modeling. Ann Biomed Eng. 2014;42:269–279. doi: 10.1007/s10439-013-0888-1.
- 69. Walsh MT, Cunnane EM, Mulvihill JJ, Akyildiz AC, Gijsen FJ, Holzapfel GA. Uniaxial tensile testing approaches for characterisation of atherosclerotic plaques. J Biomech. 2014;47:793–804. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2014.01.017.
- 70. Huang X, Yang C, Zheng J, et al. 3D MRI-based multicomponent thin layer structure only plaque models for atherosclerotic plaques. J Biomech. 2016;49:2726–2733. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2016.06.002.
- 71. Zhou A, Chan H, Chughtai A, et al. Automated coronary artery tree extraction in coronary CT angiography using a multiscale enhancement and dynamic balloon tracking (MSCAR-DBT) method. Comput Med Imaging Graph. 2012;36:1-10. doi: 10.1016/j.compmedimag.2011.04.001.
- 72. Han D, Shim H, Jeon B, et al. Automatic Coronary Artery Segmentation Using Active Search for Branches and Seemingly Disconnected Vessel Segments from Coronary CT Angiography. PLoS One. 2016;11:e0156837. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0156837.
- 73. Truc PTH, Khan AU, Lee YK, Lee SY, Kim TS. Vessel enhancement filter using directional filter bank. Comput Vis Image Understand. 2009;113:101–112. http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.cviu.2008.07.009.
- 74. Cetin S, Demir A, Yezzi A, Degertekin M, Unal G. Vessel tractography using an intensity based tensor model with branch detection. IEEE Trans Med Imag. 2013;32:348-363. doi: 10.1109/TMI.2012.2227118.
- Cetin S, Unal G. A higher-order tensor vessel tractography for segmentation of vascular structures. IEEE Trans Med Imag. 2015;34:2172-2185. doi: 10.1109/TMI.2015.2425535.
- 76. Becker C, Rigamonti R, Lepetit V, Fua P. Supervised feature learning for curvilinear structure segmentation. Med Image Comput Comput Assist Interv. 2013;16:526-533.
- 77. Su R, Sun CM, Pham TD. Junction detection for linear structures based on Hessian, correlation and shape information. Patt Recogn. 2012;45:3695-3706. http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.patcog.2012.04.013.
- Wang S, Wu JH, Wei MQ, Ma X. Robust curve skeleton extraction for vascular structures. Graph Models. 2012;74:109–120. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gmod.2012.03.008.
- Wong WCK, So RWK, Chung ACS. Principal curves for lumen center extraction and flow channel width estimation in 3-D arterial networks: Theory, Algorithm, and Validation. IEEE Trans Image Proc. 2012;21:1847-1862. doi: 10.1109/ TIP.2011.2179054.
- Delibasis KK, Kechriniotis AI, Tsonos C, Assimakis N. Automatic model-based tracing algorithm for vessel segmentation and diameter estimation. Comput Meth Prog Biomed. 2010;100:108-122. doi: 10.1016/j.cmpb.2010.03.00.
- Wang Y, Liatsis P. Automatic segmentation of coronary arteries in CT imaging in the presence of kissing vessel artifacts. IEEE Trans Inform Technol Biomed. 2012;16:782– 789. doi: 10.1109/TITB.2012.2192286.
- Bauer C, Pock T, Sorantin E, Bischof H, Beichel R. Segmentation of interwoven 3D tubular tree structures utilizing shape priors and graph cuts. Med Image Anal. 2010;14:172–184. doi: 10.1016/j.media.2009.11.003.

- 83. Zhou C, Chan HP, Chughtai A, et al. Automated coronary artery tree extraction in coronary CT angiography using a multiscale enhancement and dynamic balloon tracking (MSCAR-DBT) method. Comput Med Imag Graph. 2012;36:1-10. doi: 10.1016/j.compmedimag.2011.04.001.
- 84. Gülsün MA, Funka-Lea G, Zheng YF, Eckert M. CTA coronary labeling through efficient geodesics between trees using anatomy priors. Med Image Comput Comput Assist Interv. 2014;17:521-528.
- 85. Fabijanska A. Segmentation of pulmonary vascular tree from 3D CT thorax scans. Biocybern Biomed Eng. 2015;35:106–119. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbe.2014.07.001.
- Orkisz M, Hernandez Hoyos M, Pérez Romanello V, et al. Segmentation of the pulmonary vascular trees in 3D CT images using variational region–growing. IRBM. 2014;35:11– 19. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.irbm.2013.12.001.
- 87. Rudyanto RD, Kerkstra S, van Rikxoort, et al. Comparing algorithms for automated vessel segmentation in computed tomography scans of the lung: the VESSEL12 study. Med Image Anal. 2014;18:1217–1232. doi: 10.1016/j.media.2014.07.003.
- Xiao CY, Staring M, Shamonin D, Reiber JHC, Stolk J, Stoel BC. A strain energy filter for 3D vessel enhancement with application to pulmonary CT images. Med Image Anal. 2011;15:112-124. doi: 10.1016/j.media.2010.08.003.
- 89. Forkert ND, Schmidt-Richberg A, Fiehler J, et al. 3D cerebrovascular segmentation combining fuzzy vessel enhancement and level-sets with anisotropic energy weights. Magn Reson Imaging. 2013;31:262-71. doi: 10.1016/j. mri.2012.07.008.
- 90. Hassan M, Chaudhry A, Khan A, Kim JY. Carotid artery image segmentation using modified spatial fuzzy c-means and ensemble clustering. Comput Methods Programs Biomed. 2012;108:1261-1276. doi: 10.1016/j.cmpb.2012.08.011.
- Fathi A, Naghsh-Nilchi AR. Automatic wavelet-based retinal blood vessels segmentation and vessel diameter estimation. Biomed Sign Proc Contr. 2013;8:71-80. http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.bspc.2012.05.005.
- 92. Moghimirad E, Rezatofighi SH, Soltanian-Zadeh. Retinal vessel segmentation using a multi-scale medialness function. Comput Biol Med. 2012;42:50–60. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. compbiomed.2011.10.008.
- 93. Cimen S, Hoogendoorn C, Morris PD, Gunn J, Frangi AF. Reconstruction of coronary trees from 3DRA using a 3D+t statistical cardiac prior. Med Image Comput Comput Assist Interv. 2014;17:619–626.
- 94. Cimen S, Gooya A, Ravikumar N, Taylor ZA, Frangi AF. Reconstruction of coronary artery centrelines from X-ray angiography using a mixture of student's t-distributions. Lecture Notes in Computer Science (MICCAI). 2016;9902:291-299. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-46726-9\_34.
- 95. Hu Y, Jung M, Oukili A, et al. Sparse reconstruction from a limited projection number of the coronary artery tree in X-ray rotational imaging. IEEE Int Symp Biomed Imag (ISBI). 2012; pp. 804-807. doi: 10.1109/ISBI.2012.6235670.
- 96. Fallavollita P, Cheriet F. Optimal 3D reconstruction of coronary arteries for 3D clinical assessment. Comput Med Imaging Graph. 2008;32:476-487. doi: 10.1016/j. compmedimag.2008.05.001.
- 97. Gülsün MA, Funka-Lea G, Sharma P, Rapaka S, Zheng YF. Coronary centerline extraction via optimal flow paths and

CNN path pruning. Lecture Notes in Computer Science (MICCAI). 2016;9902:317-325. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-46726-9\_37.

- Kitamura Y, Li YZ, Ito W. Automatic coronary extraction by supervised detection and shape matching. IEEE Int Symp Biomed Imag (ISBI). 2012;234–237. doi: 10.1109/ ISBI.2012.6235527.
- 99. Dufour A, Tankyevych O, Naegel B, et al. Filtering and segmentation of 3D angiographic data: Advances based on mathematical morphology. Med Image Anal. 2013;17:147-164. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.media.2012.08.004.
- 100. Krissian K, Carreira JM, Esclarin J, Maynar M. Semi-automatic segmentation and detection of aorta dissection wall in MDCT angiography. Med Image Anal. 2014;18:83–102. doi: 10.1016/j. media.2013.09.004.
- 101. Shang YF, Deklerck R, Nyssen E, et al. Vascular active contour for vessel tree segmentation. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng. 2011;58:1023-1032. doi: 10.1109/TBME.2010.2097596.
- 102. Shin SY, Lee S, Noh KJ, Yun ID, Lee KM. Extraction of coronary vessels in fluoroscopic X-ray sequences using vessel correspondence optimization. Lecture Notes in Computer Science (MICCAI). 2016;9902:308-316. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-46726-9\_36.
- 103. Liu L, Shi WZ, Rueckert D, Hu MX, Ourselin S, Zhuang XH. Model-guided directional minimal path for fully automatic extraction of coronary centerlines from cardiac CTA. Med Image Comput Comput Assist Interv. 2013;16:542-549.
- 104. Liu L, Shi WZ, Rueckert D, Hu MX, Ourselin S, Zhuang XH. Coronary centerline extraction based on ostium detection and model-guided directional minimal path. IEEE Int Symp Biomed Imag (ISBI). 2014;133-136. doi: 10.1109/ ISBI.2014.6867827.
- 105. Sun SY, Wang P, Sun SH, Chen T. Model-guided extraction of coronary vessel structures in 2D X-ray angiograms. Med Image Comput Comput Assist Interv. 2014;17:594-602.
- 106. Medrano-Garcia P, Ormiston J, Webster M, et al. Construction of a coronary artery atlas from CT angiography. Med Image Comput Comput Assist Interv. 2014;17:513–520.
- 107. Zheng YF, Tek H, Funka-Lea G. Robust and accurate coronary artery centerline extraction in CTA by combining modeldriven and data-driven approaches. Med Image Comput Comput Assist Interv. 2013;16:74–81.
- 108. Perona P, Malik J. Scale space and edge detection using anisotropic diffusion. IEEE Trans Patt Anal Mach Intell. 1990;12:629–639.
- 109. Frangi AF, Niessen WJ, Vincken KL, Viergever MA. Multiscale vessel enhancement filtering. Lecture Notes in Computer Science (MICCAI). 1998;1496:130–137.
- 110. Han DJ, Doan NT, Shim H, et al. A fast seed detection using local geometrical feature for automatic tracking of coronary arteries in CTA. Comput Methods Programs Biomed. 2014;117:179–188. doi: 10.1016/j.cmpb.2014.07.005.
- 111. Benyó B. Identification of dental root canals and their medial line from micro-CT and cone-beam CT records. BioMed Eng Online 2012;11:81. doi: 10.1186/1475-925X-11-81.
- 112. Au OKC, Tai CL, Chu HK, Cohen-Or D, Lee TY. Skeleton extraction by mesh contraction. ACM Trans Graph. 2008;27:1-10.
- 113. Hoffmann U, Bamberg F, Chae CU, et al. Coronary computed tomography angiography for early triage of patients with acute chest pain: the ROMICAT (Rule Out Myocardial

Infarction using Computer Assisted Tomography) trial. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2009;53:1642-1650. doi: 10.1016/j. jacc.2009.01.052.

- 114. Hoffman U, Truong Q, Schoenfield D, et al. Coronary CT angiography versus Standard Evaluation in Acute Chest Pain. N Engl J Med. 2012;367:299–308. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1201161.
- 115. Kolansky DM. Acute coronary syndromes: morbidity, mortality, and pharmacoeconomic burden. Am J Manag Care. 2009;15:36-41.
- 116. Hagan PG, Nienaber CA, Isselbacher EM, et al. The International Registry of Acute Aortic Dissection (IRAD): new insights into an old disease. JAMA. 2000;283:897-903.
- 117. Eagle KA, Lim MJ, Dabbous OH, et al. A validated prediction model for all forms of acute coronary syndrome: estimating the risk of 6-month postdischarge death in an international registry. JAMA. 2004;9;291:2727-2733. doi:10.1001/ jama.291.22.2727.
- 118. Kristensen TS, Kofoed KF, Kühl JT, Nielsen WB, Nielsen MB, Kelbæk HJ. Prognostic implications of non-obstructive coronary plaques in patients with non-ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction: a multidetector computed tomography study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011;58:502–509. doi: 10.1016/j. jacc.2011.01.058.



ORIGINAL RESEARCH

# The Assessment of Epicardial Adipose Tissue in Acute Coronary Syndrome Patients. A Systematic Review

Theodora Benedek<sup>1,2</sup>, Diana Opincariu<sup>1</sup>, Nora Rat<sup>1,2</sup>, Roxana Hodas<sup>1</sup>, András Mester<sup>1</sup>, Imre Benedek<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Center of Advanced Research in Multimodality Cardiac Imaging, Cardio Med Medical Center, Tîrgu Mureş, Romania <sup>2</sup> Clinic of Cardiology, University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Tîrgu Mureş, Romania

#### ABSTRACT

**Background:** This systematic review seeks to evaluate the role of epicardial adipose tissue (EAT), quantified either by thickness, assessed by transthoracic echocardiography, or by volume, assessed by cardiac computed tomography (CT), in the follow-up of patients with acute coronary syndromes (ACS). Method: One-hundred forty-four articles were screened, from which 56 were reviewed in full-text. From those, 47 studies were excluded for the following reasons: they did not meet the inclusion criteria; they were either reviews or meta-analyses; the study cohorts included only stable coronary artery disease patients; they did not state a clear and concise study design, endpoints, or follow-up. The final draft included nine studies for systematic evaluation. Results: Of the 2,306 patients included in the review, 170 underwent cardiac CT while the remaining 2,136 underwent transthoracic echocardiography for the measurement of EAT. The analysis found that the EAT thickness was significantly associated with major adverse cardiovascular events (MACE) rates during hospitalization (OR: -1.3, 95% CI: 1.05–1.62, p = 0.020) and at three years (HR: 1.524, 95% CI: 1.0–2.2, p = 0.038). The included studies found that EAT was correlated with the following clinical and angiographic risk scores for ACS: GRACE (r = 0.438, p <0.001), TIMI risk score (r = 0.363, p = 0.001), SYNTAX score (r = 0.690, p <0.0001; r = 0.610, p <0.01), and Gensini score (r = 0.438, p = 0.001). There was an inverse correlation between ST-segment resolution of <70% after revascularization and EAT (r = -0.414, p = 0.01), and the myocardial blush grade (r = -0.549, p < 0.001). The EF aggregation ranged between 2.65 mm and 4.7 mm within the included studies. Conclusions: EAT, evaluated either by echocardiography or cardiac CT, correlates with the severity of coronary lesions, with the clinical and angiographic risk scores for acute coronary syndromes, with indicators for coronary reperfusion, and with short- and long-term MACE rates. Further studies are required to fully elucidate the role of this extensively studied but still novel cardiovascular biomarker as part of a risk prediction tool.

Keywords: epicardial adipose tissue, acute coronary syndromes, echocardiography, cardiac CT

#### **ARTICLE HISTORY**

Received: 11 October, 2016 Accepted: 3 November, 2016

#### CORRESPONDENCE

#### Diana Opincariu

Str. 22 Decembrie 1989 nr. 76 540124 Tîrgu Mureş, Romania Tel: +40 265 217 333 E-mail: diana.opincariu@yahoo.ro

Theodora Benedek: Str. Gheorghe Marinescu nr. 38, 540139 Tîrgu Mureş, Romania. Tel: +40 265 215 551. E-mail: theodora.benedek@gmail.com Nora Rat: Str. Gheorghe Marinescu nr. 38, 540139 Tîrgu Mureş, Romania. Tel: +40 265 215 551. E-mail: ratnora@gmail.com Roxana Hodas: Str. 22 Decembrie 1989 nr. 76, 540124 Tîrgu Mureş, Romania. Tel: +40 265 217 333. E-mail: roxana.hodas@yahoo.ro András Mester: Str. 22 Decembrie 1989 nr. 76, 540124 Tîrgu Mureş, Romania. Tel: +40 265 217 333. E-mail: andras.mester@yahoo.com Imre Benedek: Str. Gheorghe Marinescu nr. 38, 540139 Tîrgu Mureş, Romania. Tel: +40 265 215 551. E-mail: andras.mester@yahoo.com



#### INTRODUCTION

Acute coronary syndromes remain a leading cause of death worldwide despite the many advances in both preventive strategies and emergency treatment options, including percutaneous coronary interventions.<sup>1</sup>

Several predictors of the severity of coronary artery disease have been established, and, in recent years, attention has been directed towards the role of epicardial adipose tissue (EAT) as a cardiovascular risk factor, as well as the assessment of instability of atherosclerotic coronary plaques.<sup>2</sup>

#### EAT - ROLE AND PATHOPHYSIOLOGY

Adipose tissue surrounding the heart has several roles, including being an energy provider for myocardial metabolism, thermoregulation, and mechanical protection for both the epicardial coronary vessels and the autonomic innervation of the heart.<sup>3</sup> The metabolic and immunologic effects of EAT remain unclear, although several hypotheses have been suggested, including that of secreting increased quantities of anti- and pro-inflammatory cytokines, regulating the oxidative reactions within the myocardial fibers, as well as influencing the contractility, conductibility, and excitability of the heart.<sup>4</sup>

Furthermore, being a visceral fat and having the same characteristics and behavior as intra-abdominal fat, EAT appears to be one of the extra-vascular culprits associated with the progression and aggravation of atherosclerotic lesions.<sup>5</sup>

The genesis of a coronary atheroma is influenced, in various stages, by the adipose tissue surrounding the heart, from intimal malfunction at an early stage, to plaque erosion and rupture, with subsequent thrombosis and the occurrence of an acute coronary syndrome.<sup>6,7</sup>

Histopathological studies of epicardial fat samples acquired during cardiac surgery have shown that EAT contains several inflammation biomarkers, including tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ , interleukins, and chemokines, which might contribute to the development and progression of insulin resistance, and also enhance apoptosis within the coronary plaque and vessel inflammation.<sup>8</sup>

On the other hand, epicardial adipose tissue has beneficial effects by secreting adiponectin — with anti-inflammatory and anti-atherogenic properties and also by stimulating neo-angiogenesis in subjects with chronic coronary occlusions.<sup>8,9</sup>

### EAT IN CORONARY ATHEROSCLEROSIS AND ACUTE CORONARY SYNDROMES

EAT has been shown to be linked with the presence and severity of coronary atherosclerotic lesions.<sup>10,11</sup> Subjects with an increased EAT, assessed either by echocardiography or cardiac CT, have a more severe extension of coronary atherosclerosis, and EAT is also linked to the overall plaque burden and cardiovascular risk factors.12-14 Furthermore, the incidence of myocardial infarction seems to be directly proportional to the increase in epicardial fat, which is also related to a higher rate of major adverse cardiovascular events in subjects with known coronary artery disease (CAD).<sup>15,16</sup> Due to its paracrine properties, by secreting serum inflammatory biomarkers EAT brings a significant contribution to the vulnerability of the coronary atheromatous plaque, either by local inflammation or by stimulating neo-angiogenesis and the development of vasa-vasorum and subsequent intra-plaque hemorrhage, plaque rupture and thrombosis.<sup>15,17,18</sup> Patients without chest pain who present with major adverse cardiovascular events have a bigger epicardial fat volume compared to event-free patients.<sup>19</sup> The coronary artery calcium score, a marker of CAD severity, has a positive correlation with EAT in patients with both obstructive and non-obstructive CAD. An increased EAT volume, together with low attenuation plaques with the presence of a napkin-ring sign, are correlated with a higher risk of future acute coronary events in non-obese subjects.<sup>20,21</sup> Moreover, the thickness of the epicardial fat has been shown to be closely linked to the presence of multi-vessel CAD in patients with acute myocardial infarction.<sup>22</sup>

#### EAT – METHODS OF ASSESSMENT AND IMAGING TECHNIQUES

The imaging methods for assessing epicardial fat include 2D transthoracic echocardiography (TTE), native cardiac computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI).<sup>23</sup> MRI remains the gold-standard technique for measuring not only the adipose tissue surrounding the heart but also the total visceral fat. Despite the fact that MRI allows the acquisition of high-resolution images and the possibility of quantifying EAT volume, it is not feasible in an emergency clinical setting, as it is more costly and less available than other methods.<sup>24</sup>

Transthoracic 2-dimensional echocardiography is a low-cost and easily available, non-invasive method that allows the quantification of epicardial fat. It has been proven to be as useful as more advanced imaging methods such as CT or MRI.25 The 2-D TTE measurement of epicardial fat thickness is expressed in millimeters and is performed with the patient in a lateral decubitus position, at the level of the free wall of the right ventricle, from a parasternal long axis view, in three consecutive cardiac cycles, at the end-diastolic period.<sup>26</sup> EAT is illustrated on TTE as a hypoechoic space between the epicardium and pericardium. The consensus of opinion is that a value of >5 mm should be considered suggestive of an increased EAT.<sup>23,26–29</sup> TTE assessment of EAT has several limitations, including inter- and intra-observer variability, as well as the location of epicardial fat on the surface of the heart and the phases of the cardiac cycle in which the measurements are done.<sup>30</sup> Further drawbacks include problems in discriminating between epicardial and pericardial material or fluid in the pericardial sack.<sup>26</sup>

Cardiac computed tomography (CT) examination can accurately assess the volume, total area, and thickness of epicardial adipose tissue, and concomitantly it can evaluate coronary atheromas and their degree of calcification.<sup>23,31</sup> EAT can be measured by CT at the level of the free wall of the right ventricle, in the atrioventricular and interventricular spaces, and also in the proximity of the main coronary vessels, when it is regularly associated with coronary calcium score evaluation.<sup>23</sup> Similarly to TTE assessment, EAT volume measured by CT does not have a precise range considered as normal. A study (2008) stated the average EAT volume was 110 ± 41 ml in females and 137 ± 53 ml in males,<sup>32</sup> and Shmilovich *et al.* (2011) reported that epicardial fat volume indexed to the whole body surface area, at the 95th percentile, was 68.1 ml/m2.<sup>33</sup> The limitations of this technique are represented by the difficulty of achieving standard location limits for the measurements and by the inter-observational variability.<sup>34,35</sup>

#### **MATERIALS AND METHOD**

#### SEARCH STRATEGY

The study was conducted in agreement with the PRISMA methodology (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta–Analyses).<sup>36</sup>

The literature search was centered on accessing all published articles related to epicardial adipose tissue evaluation in acute coronary syndrome patients, either by TTE or cardiac CT.

Two investigators searched the PubMed/Medline and Thomson Reuters scientific databases. The comprehensive search strategy comprised the following medical subject headings (MeSH) terms: "epicardial fat AND acute coronary syndromes", "epicardial adipose tissue AND acute coronary syndromes", "epicardial fat thickness", "epicardial fat volume".

#### DATA EXTRACTION AND ANALYSIS

The two investigators extracted the following data from the selected manuscripts: the number of subjects included in the study, age, gender, type of acute coronary syndrome for which they had been admitted, the follow-up period, the primary and secondary endpoints, the method of assessment of EAT, the mean values (TTE) and volume (cardiac CT) of EAT respectively, as well as the presence of diabetes, smoking, hypertension history, obesity. Furthermore, whenever available, data extraction included the odds ratios (OR) and hazard ratios (HR) when appropriate for the endpoints of each study.

### STUDY QUALITY ASSESSMENT AND ELIGIBILITY CONDITIONS

No study was excluded for motives of decreased study quality, but the selected studies presented a concise portrayal of the inclusion and exclusion criteria, the endpoints and the follow-up periods, as well as a precise method for assessing the EAT, irrespective of the noninvasive method that had been used (TTE or cardiac CT). Articles that enrolled only subjects with stable CAD were excluded from the search. Also, we excluded various articles such as case reports, case series, reviews, editorials, letters, as well as manuscripts that were not available in full-text form. The search filter also excluded species other than humans.

#### RESULTS

One-hundred forty-four manuscripts were screened in total, out of which 56 were identified using the described search strategy and were reviewed in a full-text form. From those, 47 studies were excluded for not meeting the inclusion criteria. These were either reviews or metaanalyses, the study cohorts included only stable coronary artery disease patients, or they did not state a clear and concise study design, endpoints or follow-up (Figure 1). The final draft included nine studies for systematic evaluation: one study that used CT for EAT assessment, and eight manuscripts that assessed EAT with TTE.

In all, 2,306 patients were included, of which 170 subjects underwent cardiac CT for EAT evaluation,<sup>37</sup> while the remaining 2,136 patients underwent TTE measure-



**FIGURE 1.** Diagram of the search protocol and results of manuscript selection

ment of EAT.<sup>38–45</sup> Table 1 presents a summary of the included manuscripts. All systematized manuscripts contain a concise and clear portrayal of the inclusion and exclusion criteria and the method for assessing EAT, either through cardiac CT or TTE (Table 1). All studies enrolled patients with acute coronary syndromes. Six of the nine studies used, as one of the main exclusion criteria, previous revascularization therapies, either by coronary artery bypass grafting or percutaneous coronary intervention.

#### CHARACTERISTICS OF THE STUDY POPULATIONS

The overall characteristics of the patients included in the nine study cohorts, including cardiovascular risk factors and gender distribution, are listed in Table 2.

#### STATISTICAL ANALYSIS AND STUDY DESIGN OF THE SELECTED MANUSCRIPTS

There was a diversity of study methodology and statistical approaches used in the selected manuscripts. Four studies were retrospective and calculated odds ratios based on multivariate logistic regression. From the five prospective observational studies, only one used Cox proportional hazards models for the prediction of major adverse cardiovascular events (MACE) rates during the three-year follow-up.<sup>42</sup> Most researchers (n = 6) used the Receiver Operator Characteristics (ROC) curve and the area under the curve for the determination of the cut-off value for EAT values that predicted the study outcome.<sup>37–41,45</sup> All selected articles used Spearman or Pearson correlation coefficient statistics for evaluating the link between epicardial fat and other clinical and laboratory variables.

#### STUDY ENDPOINTS AND RESEARCH HYPOTHESES

#### EAT and MACE

Two manuscripts examined the prognostic value of EAT, and the endpoints included the in-hospital MACE rates.<sup>40</sup> One study42 had a three-year follow-up period, with major adverse cardiovascular events as a primary endpoint. Both survival studies included multivariate adjustments for cardiovascular risk factors (smoking, diabetes, age) as well as medical history (previous cardiovascular and

Authors (*ref)	Year	Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria	Follow-up	Research hypothesis
Studies that assess	the EFV	V (ml) by using cardiac CT			
Harada <i>et al.<sup>37</sup></i>	2011	ACS patients (STEMI and NSTEMI)	<ul> <li>previous revascularization (CABG or PCI)</li> </ul>	None	Higher EFV in patients with ACS
Studies that assess	EFT (m	nm) by using transthoracic echocardiogra	aphy		
Altun <i>et al.</i> <sup>38</sup>	2013	ACS patients (STEMI and NSTEMI)	<ul> <li>poor quality images on TTE</li> <li>history of CABG</li> <li>CKD</li> <li>severe valvular disease</li> </ul>	None	Correlation of EFT with GRACE and SYNTAX scores
Tanindi <i>et al.</i> <sup>39</sup>	2015	<ul><li>stable angina patients</li><li>ACS patients</li></ul>	<ul> <li>previous revascularization (CABG or PCI)</li> <li>pericardial effusion</li> <li>more than moderate valvular disease</li> <li>poor quality images on TTE</li> </ul>	None	EFT with impaired coronary perfusion evaluated with MBG and TCF
Wang et al.40	2014	<ul><li>AMI patients with:</li><li>normal thoracic shape</li><li>sinus rhythm</li><li>no severe respiratory diseases</li></ul>	<ul> <li>previous revascularization (CABG or PCI)</li> <li>CKD with GFR &lt;30 ml/min</li> <li>severe hydro-pericardium</li> <li>poor quality images on TTE</li> </ul>	None	Composite of major in-hospital events – cardiac death, acute heart failure, repeated revascularization, recurrent MI or ischemia
Sen et al. <sup>41</sup>	2015	STEMI patients undergoing PCI	<ul> <li>recent MI</li> <li>previous revascularization (CABG or PCI)</li> <li>presentation after &gt;12h from symptom onset</li> <li>severe hepatic and kidney disorders</li> <li>neoplastic diseases</li> </ul>	None	Correlation between EFT and IRA patency at presentation evaluated with the TIMI flow grading system
Tscharre et al. <sup>42</sup>	2016	ACS patients (STEMI and NSTEMI)	<ul> <li>poor quality images on TTE</li> <li>the impossibility of obtaining the long parasternal axis view on TTE</li> </ul>	3 years	MACE rates (cardiovascular death, non-fatal MI, non- fatal stroke)
Gul et al. <sup>43</sup>	2015	Patients with first occurrence of NSTEMI	<ul> <li>chronic pulmonary and hepatic disorders</li> <li>systemic inflammatory diseases</li> <li>chronic myopathies</li> <li>CKD (creatinine &gt;2.5 mg/dl)</li> <li>myocarditis and cardiomyopathies</li> <li>congestive heart failure</li> </ul>	None	Correlation between EFT and GRACE score
Özcan et al. <sup>44</sup>	2013	NSTEMI and USAP patients	<ul> <li>rheumatic diseases</li> <li>neoplastic disorders</li> <li>active infections</li> <li>persistent ST elevation MI</li> <li>history of HF with low EF &lt;40%</li> <li>poor quality images on TTE</li> </ul>	None	Association between EFT and TMI risk score
Zencirci et al. <sup>45</sup>	2014	First acute STEMI patients who un- derwent primary PCI	<ul> <li>left ventricular hypertrophy (ECG Sokolow-Lyon index of &gt;35 mV)</li> <li>left bundle branch block</li> <li>temporary or permanent pacing</li> </ul>	None	Relationship between ST-segment resolution after pPCI and EFT
EFV – epicardial fat volı	ume (ml)	). FFT – enicardial far thickness. CABG – corona	• temporary or permanent pacing w hv-nass crafting: PCI – nercutaneous coronary intervention: C.	AD – coronary	arterv disease: ACS – acute coronary

TABLE 1. Summary of the included studies

TABLE 2. Patien	t characteristics of	the study population	ו in the includec	d manuscripts					
Authors (*ref)	Total number of subjects enrolled	: Gender (male) n (%)	Age (yea	rs) BMI (k£	g/m²) 1	Diabetes n (%)	Smokin n (%)	g Hypertension n (%)	Dyslipidemia n (%)
Studies that asses:	s the EFV (ml) by u:	sing cardiac CT							
Harada <i>et al.<sup>37</sup></i>	170	120 (70.5%)	63.5 ± 11	1.5 24.25 ±	3.25	nr	60 (35.2°	6) nr	nr
Studies that asses:	s EFT (mm) by usin	ig transthoracic echoca	ardiography						
Altun <i>et al.</i> <sup>38</sup>	65	60 (92.3%)	57.4 ± 12	26.0 ±	2.07 2.	2 (33.8%)	nr	27 (41.5%)	nr
Tanindi <i>et al.</i> <sup>39</sup>	200	160 (72.3%)	60.66 ± 15	3.33 27.7 ±	3.2 6,	4 (28.9%)	66 (44.7 <sup>c</sup>	(6) 119 (53.8%)	107 (48.4%)
Wang et al. <sup>40</sup>	373	310 (83.1%)	66 ± 12	2 nr	6	9 (26.5%)	194 (52.0	%) 209 (56%)	nr
Sen <i>et al.</i> <sup>41</sup>	079	523 (81.7%)	53.9 ± 9.	i.7 26.0 ±	4.5 33	36 (52.5%)	354 (55.3)	%) 286 (44.6%)	305 (47.6%)
Tscharre et al. <sup>42</sup>	438	293 (66.9%)	nr	nr		nr	nr	nr	nr
Gul et al. <sup>43</sup>	162	115 (70.9%)	63.9 ± 12	2.8 27.6 ± .	4.05 5.	4 (33.3%)	85 (52.4%	<ul><li>(6) 84 (51.8%)</li></ul>	nr
Özcan <i>et a</i> l. <sup>44</sup>	144	101 (70.1%)	62.55 ± 1.	1.4 28.1 ±	4.1 4.	9 (34.0%)	71 (49.3%	6) 76 (52.7%)	nr
Zencirci et al. <sup>45</sup>	114	99 (86.8%)	54 ± 10	) 27.65 ±	3.55 2	3 (20.1%)	63 (55.2°	6) 40 (35.0%)	nr
Values are listed as mé nr – not reported <b>TABLE 3. Progno</b>	ean ± standard deviation stic value of epica	n, or as a median rdial fat thickness ass	sessed by transt	horacic echocardiog	sraphy				
Authors (*ref)	Time of Endpoint evaluation	Outcome	Events n (%)	EFT aggregation	OR (95% CI)	HR (95% CI)	P value	Multivariate Adji	Istments
Wang et al. <sup>40</sup>	Hospitalization index	In-hospital MACE	55 (14.7%)	4.7 mm	1.3 (1.05–1.62)	I	0.020	Diabetes, smoking, previous r tion, age	nyocardial infarc-
Tscharre et al. <sup>42</sup>	3 years	MACE	64 (14.6%)	2.65 mm	I	1.524 (1.0–2.2)	0.038	Statin therapy, age, AF, Previstroke, HF, diabetes	ous MI, previous

MACE - major adverse cardiovascular events; MI - myocardial infarction; HF - heart failure

Study	Risk score	Risk score value	EFT aggregation	<b>Correlation</b> <b>coefficient r/</b> β	P value
Altun et al. <sup>38</sup>	GRACE	101.8 ± 33.1	5.5 mm	0.224	0.072
	SYNTAX	11.5 ± 5.6	5.5 mm	0.690	< 0.0001
Tanindi et al. <sup>39</sup>	MBG	1.7 ± 1.16	>7 mm	-0.549	<0.001
	TFC	35.02 ± 7.7	>7 mm	0.757	< 0.001
Sen et al.41	TIMI flow	0, 1, 2 – impaired coronary flow	5.6 ± 1.84 mm	nr	0.001
Gul et al.43	GRACE	nr	4.68 mm	0.438	<0.001
Özcan et al.44	TIMI RS	5.2	8.2 ± 2.1 mm	0.363	0.001
	Gensini	54.3 ± 17.5	8.2 ± 2.1 mm	0.442	0.001
Zencirci <i>et al.</i> 45	ST segment resolution after PCI ( $\Delta$ STR)	<70%	5.5 ± 2 mm	-0.414	0.01
Wang et al.40	SYNTAX	≥33	4.7 mm	0.610	<0.01

TABLE 4. EFT and risk scores for acute coronary syndrome

GRACE – global registry of acute coronary events risk score; SYNTAX -; MGB – myocardial blush grade; TFC – TIMI frame count; nr – not reported; TIMI RS – thrombolysis in myocardial infarction risk score; PCI – percutaneous coronary intervention;  $\Delta$ STR – difference between the sum of ST segment elevations before and after revascularization

cerebrovascular events, heart failure) (Table 3). Wang *et al.* (2014) showed that there is a significantly higher rate of MACE during hospitalization for acute myocardial infarction in patients with an EAT thickness of >4.7 mm (p = 0.02) after multivariate adjustments.<sup>40</sup> The other study on the prognostic value of EAT, on ST-elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) versus non-ST-elevation myocardial infarction (NSTEMI) patients, revealed that a median EAT thickness of 2.6 mm (interquartile range 2.00–3.00) had a significant predictive capacity for the primary endpoint on both univariate (HR: 1.479, 95% CI: 1.192–1.953, p = 0.006) and multivariate (HR: 1.524, 95% CI: 1.011–2.267, p = 0.038) Cox regression analysis.<sup>42</sup>

#### EAT and ACS risk scores

Seven manuscripts evaluated the correlation between EAT (measured with TTE) and various ACS risk scores (Table 4).<sup>38–41,43–45</sup> Zencirci *et al.* (2014) hypothesized that there is an inverse association between the EAT and the ST-segment resolution following primary PCI for acute STE-MI.<sup>45</sup> Other studied risk scores are the SYNTAX score for coronary atherosclerosis severity, the GRACE and TIMI risk scores for survival following an acute cardiac event, and also indicators for coronary perfusion after PCI (TIMI flow, myocardial blush grade – MBG, and TIMI frame count – TFC) (Table 4).

The overall results of the manuscripts that evaluated risk scores state that there are statistically significant correlations between an increased EAT thickness and enhanced integer values of the calculated risk scores and low perfusion indicators.

#### EAT and acute coronary syndromes

Of the 2,306 patients, 1,527 presented with STEMI, 378 with NSTEMI, and thirty-four with unstable angina pectoris. Furthermore, two of the manuscripts included, in addition to patients with ACS, stable angina pectoris patients or subjects with suspected CAD, which acted as a control group.<sup>37,39</sup> Harada *et al.* (2011) evaluated EAT using cardiac CT and compared epicardial fat volume (EFV, ml) in subjects with ACS (n = 80) and controls (n = 90). There was no significant coronary artery stenosis, and healthy individuals had a significantly lower EFV compared to the case lot (p <0.001). Tanindi *et al.* (2015) showed that patients with AMI have a significantly higher EAT thickness compared to unstable angina or stable CAD patients (p <0.001)<sup>39</sup> (Table 5).

EAT assessed by TTE was variable among study measurements, the mean ranging from a minimum of 2.65 mm, to a maximum of  $8.5 \pm 1.4$  mm (Table 5).

#### DISCUSSIONS

Although study design in the available research articles was not constant, the prognostic value of EAT in ACS and the possible correlations between EAT and ACS risk scores and coronary perfusion indicators were appraised. Despite not being consistent, the results indicated that EAT tends to negatively impact the outcome, the risk of further adverse events, and the success of coronary revascularization procedures.

The role of epicardial fatty tissue has been extensively studied, and its pathophysiology is now better known, showing both positive and negative bearings on the development and progression of CAD.<sup>3–9</sup>

Authors		STEMI		NSTEMI		USAP		<b>Potal ACS</b>	Stable	SAP/controls*	P value
	п	EF	u	EF	u	EF	u	EF	u	EF	
Harada <i>et al.<sup>37</sup></i>	51	na	29	na	na	I	80	117 ± 47 ml	06	95 ± 33 ml	<0.001 (ACS vs. Controls)
Altun <i>et al.</i> <sup>38</sup>	40	na	25	na	na	I	65	5.5 ± 0.5 mm	na	I	na
Tanindi <i>et al.</i> <sup>39</sup>	16	$8.5 \pm 1.4 \text{ mm}^{**}$	17	8.5 ± 1.4 mm**	34	6.3 ± 1.8 mm	67	7.4 ± 1.6 mm	133	5.4 ± 1.9 mm	<0.001 (SAP-USAP vs. SAP-AMI vs. USAP-AMI)***
Wang et al. <sup>40</sup>	373	4.5 ± 1.05 mm	na	I	na	I	na	I	na	I	na
Sen et al.41	640	5.26 ± 1.96 mm	na	I	na	I	na	I	na	I	na
Tscharre <i>et a</i> l. <sup>42</sup>	293	nr	145	I	na	I	528	2.65 mm	na	I	na
Gul et al. <sup>43</sup>	nr	I	162	$5.0 \pm 1.15 \text{ mm}$	na	I	na	I	na	I	na
Özcan <i>et a</i> l. <sup>44</sup>	nr	I	na	I	na	I	144	7.2 ± 2.15 mm	na	I	na
Zencirci et al. <sup>45</sup>	114	4.65 ± 1.85 mm	na	I	na	I	na	I	na	I	па
na – not available; STEM fat assessed either as vol * Controls – patients wil	il – ST-ele ume (ml) o h no signif tients with	vation myocardial infar or as thickness (mm); "icant coronary artery st a coute myocardial infar	ction; Ní enosis, v ction wit	STEMI – non-ST elevi vith or without chest J thout differentiating t	ation my pain. oetween (	ocardial infarction; l	JSAP – u patients,	instable angina pecto the mean EF is expr	rris; ACS - essed for	- Acute coronary syn the total AMI patier	drome; SAP – stable angina pectoris; EF – epicardial ts (STEMI+NSTEM)

TABLE 5. Epicardial fat thickness or volume in acute coronary syndromes

There is evidence that EAT is in direct relation with the body mass index and the presence of obesity, and it is also increased in patients with metabolic syndromes.<sup>32,46–48</sup>

Epicardial fat has also been linked to an increased systemic inflammatory status in type 2 diabetes patients with acute myocardial infarction, and in patients with a higher EAT thickness it was associated with an enhanced left ventricular remodeling process and lower ejection fraction at six months.<sup>49</sup>

Further studies are needed to elucidate the effect of a reduction of EAT on risk diminution, although some researchers have proved that the regression of EF can be achieved with weight loss measures, dietary modifications, regular physical exercise, and lipid-lowering therapies with statins and ezetimibe.<sup>28,50–52</sup>

Coronary artery plaque burden was shown to be associated with a higher quantity of epicardial fat.<sup>53</sup> Several studies have stated that there is a relationship between an increased EAT and plaque vulnerability.<sup>54–56</sup> Noninvasive imaging biomarkers, identified by computed tomography coronary angiography, include the coronary artery calcium score, low-density plaques with an increased necrotic core, the presence of spotty calcifications and the napkinring sign.<sup>57,58</sup> Biomarkers for plaque instability, detected by advanced imaging methods such as intravascular ultrasound (IVUS) and optical coherence tomography (OCT) include the thick fibrous cap atheroma, fibrous cap thickness, the extent of intra-plaque macrophage deposition, vessel extension and rupture.<sup>59–61</sup>

Two of the largest EAT studies included cohorts of patients with no cardiovascular disease. The MESA trial/ study showed a positive association between the coronary artery calcium score and the EFV assessed by CT, but the Heinz–Nixdorf Recall study found that EAT predicted an excessive risk for coronary events, independently of the calcium score and classic cardiovascular risk factors.<sup>15,62</sup> The studies analyzed in our systematic review did not include manuscripts that had evaluated coronary calcium or vulnerable plaque biomarkers, as these did not meet the inclusion criteria.

#### EAT AND ACS RISK SCORES

Ongoing research is being undertaken to identify additional risk markers which could predict future cardiovascular events after an ACS. Several risk scores have been developed for risk assessment in ACS, including GRACE (Global Registry of Acute Coronary Events), SYNTAX, the TIMI risk score, all of which have been validated in predicting MACE rates.<sup>63–65</sup> Our systematic analysis showed that several investigations have studied the correlation between EAT thickness and established ACS risk scores.<sup>38,43–45</sup> One study<sup>43</sup> found a significant association between EAT and GRACE scores (p <0.001), though this was not corroborated by other studies.<sup>38</sup> The angiographic SYNTAX score for coronary lesion severity and the clinical TIMI risk score for adverse coronary events were also found to be significantly linked with EAT.<sup>38,40,44</sup> Being associated with ACS severity and risk prediction scores and connected with markers that express an increased patient vulnerability for acute coronary syndromes, at the same time being proven as an independent CAD,<sup>53</sup> EAT qualifies as a candidate for inclusion in current ACS risk scores.

One of the included studies hypothesized that an increased thickness of the epicardial fat is linked to impairment in the ST-segment resolution following revascularization in acute MI patients.<sup>45</sup> ST-segment resolution is a surrogate for tissue level reperfusion, illustrating the no-reflow phenomenon after primary PCI, and the lack of ST-segment regression after PCI has been proved to be a predictor for in-hospital mortality rates.<sup>66,67</sup>

#### EAT AND MAJOR ADVERSE CARDIOVASCULAR EVENTS

Epicardial fat might provide supplementary evidence regarding future cardiac events in patients with acute coronary syndromes. It is well known that an increased systemic inflammatory status leads to a poorer outcome in patients with STEMI.<sup>68,69</sup> Being an active metabolic tissue that secretes inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, epicardial fat could contribute to the overall inflammation, thus negatively impacting the outcome of ACS patients.4 EAT thickness can be used as a predictor of MACE, including MI and cardiovascular death.<sup>70</sup> Furthermore, an increased EF volume was shown to predict MI or cardiovascular death in patients suspected of CAD.71 In a study that compared MACE individuals with eventfree controls, patients with MACE had a significantly higher EF volume, even after multivariate adjustments for age, BMI, coronary calcium score, and Framingham risk score.72

The present review included two studies that evaluated the MACE rate with different endpoint evaluation times.<sup>40,42</sup> Wang *et al.* (2014) evaluated the influence of EAT thickness on the rate of major events during hospitalization, and after multivariate adjustments, concluded that the cut-off value for epicardial fat thickness (EFT) was 4.7 mm for predicting the primary endpoint (OR: 0.13, 95% CI: 1.05–1.62).<sup>40</sup> Tscharre *et al.* (2016) concluded that EFT was predictive for MACE rates during a follow-up period of three years (HR: 1.524, 95% CI: 1.0-2.2).<sup>42</sup>

#### EAT — ECHOCARDIOGRAPHY VERSUS CARDIAC CT

EAT, appraised by echocardiography, was shown to be associated with the EFV assessed by CT.<sup>25,26</sup> While cardiac CT and MRI allow the volumetric assessment of endocardial adipose tissue, echocardiography determines only the regional thickness of EAT. Since a close relationship has been shown to exist between EAT volume and thickness, echocardiographic measurement of EAT is preferable due to low costs, high availability and reproducibility, noninvasiveness, and no exposure to radiation.<sup>73</sup>

#### **STUDY LIMITATIONS**

Although initially we sought to conduct a systematic review of studies that assessed EAT using echocardiography in comparison with cardiac CT, in the course of our search we found that there were few studies that used CT in emergency clinical settings for diagnosing and managing acute coronary syndromes.

Secondly, cut-off values for epicardial fat have not been reproduced, due mainly to the fact that there are assorted descriptions of EF aggregation reported in the literature.

The power of this systematic review, in common with similar studies, is limited by the quality of the incorporated manuscripts, the study designs, and the statistical methods that had been used.

Regardless of these limitations, we are of the opinion that the study provides insights into the role of EAT in diagnosing and managing patients with acute coronary syndromes.

#### CONCLUSIONS

Epicardial adipose tissue, evaluated either by thickness using echocardiography, or by volume using cardiac CT, is associated with the severity of coronary stenosis, with the clinical and angiographic risk scores for acute coronary syndromes, and also with indicators of coronary reperfusion. Information provided by epicardial fat tissue can be used as predictors of major cardiovascular events in patients with acute coronary syndromes, over both short and long term.

# **CONFLICT OF INTEREST**

Nothing to declare.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This research was supported via the research grant no. 103545/2016, contract number 43/05.09.2016, entitled "High performance multimodal MRI/CT imaging platform, for applications in computational medicine, nanoparticles and hybrid imaging for the research of atherothrombotic disorders – CARDIO IMAGE" financed by the Romanian Ministry of European Funds, the Romanian Government and the European Union.

#### REFERENCES

- World Health Organization, Cardiovascular disease (CVDs), 2016. Available from: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/ factsheets/fs317/en/#
- 2. Nakanishi K, Fukuda S, Tanaka A, et al. Epicardial Adipose Tissue Accumulation Is Associated with Renal Dysfunction and Coronary Plaque Morphology on Multidetector Computed Tomography. Circ J. 2015;80:196–201. doi: 10.1253/circj.CJ-15– 0477.
- Sacks H, Fain J. Human epicardial fat: what is new and what is missing? Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol. 2011;38:879-887. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1681.2011.05601.x.
- Antonopoulus A, Antoniades C. The role of epicardial adipose tissue in cardiac biology: classic concepts and emerging roles. 2017. doi:10.1113/JP273049. [Epub ahead of print]
- 5. Alexopoulus N, Raggi P. Epicardial Adipose Tissue: Another Tassel in the Complex Fabric of Atherosclerosis. Cardiovasc Hematol Disord Drug Targets. 2017. PMID: 28124603. [Epub ahead of print]
- Cheng KH, Chu CS, Lee KT, et al. Adipocytokines and proinflammatory mediators from abdominal and epicardial adipose tissue in patients with coronary artery disease. Int J Obes. 2008;32:268–274. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0803726.
- Talman A, Psaltis P, Cameron D, et al. Epicardial adipose tissue: far more than a fat depot. Cardiovasc Diagn Ther. 2014;4(6):416-429. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2223-3652.2014.11.05.
- Mazurek T, Zhang L, Zalewski A, et al. Human epicardial adipose tissue is a source of inflammatory mediators. Circulation. 2003;108: 2460-2466. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000099542.57313. C5.
- 9. Iacobellis G, Pistilli D, Gucciardo M, et al. Adiponectin expression in human epicardial adipose tissue in vivo is lower in patients with coronary artery disease. Cytokine. 2005;29:251-255. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2004.11.002.
- Hodas R, Pop S, Opincariu D, et al. Correlations Between Severity of Coronary Lesions and Epicardial Fat Volume in Patients with Coronary Artery Disease – a Multislice CT– based Study. Journal of Interdisciplinary Medicine. 2016;1:71– 78. doi: 10.1515/jim-2016-0014.
- 11. Iacobellis G, Corradi D, Sharma AM. Epicardial adipose tissue: anatomic, biomolecular and clinical relationship with the heart. Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med. 2005;2:536–543. doi: 10.1038/ncpcardio0319.
- 12. Gitsioudis G, Schmahl C, Missiou A, et al. Epicardial adipose tissue is associated with plaque burden and composition and provides incremental value for the prediction of

cardiac outcome. A clinical cardiac computed tomography angiography study. PLoS One. 2016;11:e0155120. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0155120.

- 13. Nakanishi R, Rajani R, Cheng VY, et al. Increase in epicardial fat volume is associated with greater coronary artery calcification progression in subjects at intermediate risk by coronary calcium score: a serial study using non-contrast cardiac CT. Atherosclerosis. 2011;218:363–368. doi: 10.1016/j. atherosclerosis.2011.07.093.
- 14. Bettencourt N, Toschke A, Leite D, et al. Epicardial adipose tissue is an independent predictor of coronary atherosclerotic burden. International Journal of Cardiology. 2012;158:26-32. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2010.12.085.
- Mahabadi A, Berg M, Lehmann N, et al. Association of Epicardial Fat With Cardiovascular Risk Factors and Incident Myocardial Infarction in the General Population: The Heinz Nixdorf Recall Study. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2013;61:1388–1395. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2012.11.062.
- 16. Nakanishi K, Fukuda S, Tanaka A, et al. Persistent epicardial adipose tissue accumulation is associated with coronary plaque vulnerability and future acute coronary syndrome in nonobese subjects with coronary artery disease. Atherosclerosis. 2014;237:353-60. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2014.09.015.
- Subbotin V. Neovascularization of coronary tunica intima (DIT) is the cause of coronary atherosclerosis. Lipoproteins invade coronary intima via neovascularization from adventitial vasa vasorum, but not from the arterial lumen: a hypothesis. Theor Biol Med Model. 2012;9:11. doi: 10.1186/1742-4682-9-11.
- Arad Y, Goodman K, Roth M, Newstein D, Guerci A. Coronary calcification, coronary disease risk factors, C-reactive protein, and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease events: the St. Francis Heart Study. JACC. 2005;46:158–65. doi: 10.1016/j. jacc.2005.02.088.
- Tamarappoo B, Dey D, Shmilovich H, et al. Increased pericardial fat volume measured from non-contrast CT predicts myocardial ischemia by SPECT. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2010;3:1104–e1112. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2010.07.014.
- 20. Doesch C, Süselbeck T, Haghi D, et al. The relationship between the severity of coronary artery disease and epicardial adipose tissue depends on the left ventricular function. PLoS One. 2012;7:e48330. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0048330.
- 21. Nakanishi K, Fukuda S, Tanaka A, et al. Persistent epicardial adipose tissue accumulation is associated with coronary plaque vulnerability and future acute coronary syndrome in non-obese subjects with coronary artery disease. Atherosclerosis. 2013;237:353-360. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2014.09.015.
- 22. Fukamachi D, Higuchi Y, Hiro T, et al. Association between the epicardial adipose tissue thickness and the presence of multivessel disease in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Journal of Atherosclerosis and Atherothrombosis. 2014;2:144–151. doi: 10.5551/jat.26120.
- 23. Bertaso A, Bertol D, Duncan B, Foppa M. Epicardial Fat: Definition, Measurements, and Systematic Review of Main Outcomes. Arq Bras Cardiol. 2013;101:18–28. doi: 10.5935/ abc.20130138.
- 24. Machann J, Thamer C, Schnoedt B, et al. Standardized assessment of whole body adipose tissue topography by MRI. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2005;21:455–62. doi: 10.1002/ jmri.20292.
- 25. Iacobellis G, Assael F, Ribaudo M, et al. Epicardial fat from echocardiography: a new method for visceral adipose

tissue prediction. Obes Res. 2003;11:304-310. doi: 10.1038/ oby.2003.45.

- 26. Iacobellis G, Willens H. Echocardiographic Epicardial Fat: A Review of Research and Clinical Applications. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2009;22:1311–1319. doi: 10.1016/j. echo.2009.10.013.
- Iacobellis G, Willens H, Barbaro G, Sharma AM. Threshold values of high risk echocardiographic epicardial fat thickness. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2008;16:887–892. doi: 10.1038/ oby.2008.6.
- 28. Iacobellis G, Singh N, Wharton S, Sharma A. Substantial changes in epicardial fat thickness after weight loss in severely obese subjects. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2008;16:1693-1697. doi: 10.1038/oby.2008.251.
- 29. Jeong J, Jeong M, Yun K, et al. Echocardiographic epicardial fat thickness and coronary artery disease. Circ J. 2007;71:536–539. PMID: 17384455.
- 30. Saura D, Oliva MJ, Rodri´guez D, Pascual-Figal DA, Hurtado JA, Pinar E, et al. Reproducibility of echocardiographic measurements of epicardial fat thickness. Int J Cardiol. 2010;141:311-313. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2008.11.127.
- 31. Sarin S, Wenger C, Marwaha A, et al. Clinical significance of epicardial fat measured using cardiac multislice computed tomography. Am J Cardiol. 2008;102:767-771. doi: 10.1016/j. amjcard.2008.04.058.
- 32. Rosito GA, Massaro J, Hoffmann U, et al. Pericardial fat, visceral abdominal fat, cardiovascular disease risk factors, and vascular calcification in a community-based sample: the Framingham Heart Study. Circulation. 2008;117:605-613. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.743062.
- 33. Shmilovich H, Dey D, Cheng V, et al. Threshold for the upper normal limit of indexed epicardial fat volume: derivation in a healthy population and validation in an outcomebased study. Am J Cardiol. 2011;108:1680-5. doi: 10.1016/j. amjcard.2011.07.031.
- 34. Nelson M, Mookadam F, Thota V, et al. Epicardial fat: an additional measurement for subclinical atherosclerosis and cardiovascular risk stratification? J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2011;24:339-345. doi: 10.1016/j.echo.2010.11.008.
- 35. Abbara S, Desai J, Cury R, Butler J, Nieman K, Reddy V. Mapping epicardial fat with multi-detector computed tomography to facilitate percutaneous trans-epicardial arrhythmia ablation. Eur J Radiol. 2006;57:417-22. doi: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2005.12.030.
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, PRISMA Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and metaanalyses: the PRISMA statement. BMJ. 2009;339:b2535. doi: 10.1136/bmj.b2535.
- Harada K, Amano T, Uetani T, et al. Cardiac 64–Multislice Tomography reveals Increased Epicardial Fat Volume in Patients with Acute Coronary Syndrome. Am J Cardiol. 2011;108:1119–1123. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2014.07.007.
- Altun B, Colkesent Y, Gazi E, et al. Could Epicardial Adipose Tissue Thickness by Echocardiography be Correlated with Acute Coronary Syndrome Risk Scores. Echocardiography. 2013;30:1130-1134. doi: 10.1111/echo.12276.
- 39. Tanindi A, Kocaman S, Erkan A, et al. Epicardial adipose tissue thickness is associated with myocardial infarction and impaired coronary perfusion. Anatol J cardiol. 2015;15:224– 231. doi: 10.5152/akd.2014.5277.
- 40. Wang T, Liu Q, Liu C, et al. Correlation of Echocardiographic Epicardial Fat Thickness with Severity of Coronary Artery

Disease in Patients with Acute myocardial infarction. Echocardiography. 2014;31:1177-1181. doi: 10.1111/echo.1254.

- 41. Sen F, Yilmaz S, Balci K, et al. The Relationship Between Epicardial Adipose Tissue Thickness and Infarct-Related Artery Patency in Patients with ST-segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction. Angiology. 2016;67:281–286. doi: 10.1177/0003319715591330.
- 42. Tscharre M, Hauser C, Rohla M, et al. Epicardial adipose tissue and cardiovascular outcome in patients with acute coronary syndrome undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention. Eur Heart J: Acute Cardiovascular Care. 2016. pii: 2048872616680609. [Epub ahead of print]
- 43. Gul I, Zungur M, Aykan A, et al. The relationship between GRACE score and Epicardial Fat thickness in non-STEMI Patients. Arq Bras cardiol. 2016;106:194–200. doi: 10.5935/ abc.20160024.
- 44. Ozcan F, Turak O, Canpolat U, et al. Association of epicardial fat thickness with TIMI risk score in NSTEMI/USAP patients. Herz. 2013;39:755-760. doi: 10.1007/s00059-013-3914-z.
- 45. Zencirci E, Zencirci A, Degirmencioglu A, et al. The relationship between epicardial adipose tissue and ST-segment resolution in patients with acute ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction undergoing primary percutaneous coronary intervention. Heart Vessels. 2014;2:147-153. doi: 10.1007/ s00380-013-0459-2.
- 46. De Larochelliere E, Cote J, Gilbert G, et al. Visceral/epicardial adiposity in non-obese and apparently healthy young adults: association with the cardiometabolic profile. Atherosclerosis. 2014;234:23-29. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2014.01.053.
- 47. Pierdomenico SD1, Pierdomenico AM, Neri M, Cuccurullo F. Epicardial adipose tissue and metabolic syndrome in hypertensive patients with normal body weight and waist circumference. Am J Hypertens. 2014;24:1245-1249. doi: 10.1038/ajh.2011.134.
- 48. Rabkin SW. The relationship between epicardial fat and indices of obesity and the metabolic syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Metab Syndr Relat Disord. 2014;12:31-42. doi: 10.1089/met.2013.0107.
- 49. Opincariu D, Mester A, Dobra M, et al. Prognostic Value of Epicardial Fat Thickness as a Biomarker of Increased Inflammatory Status in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Acute Myocardial Infarction. Journal of Cardiovascular Emergencies. 2016;2:11–18. doi: 10.1515/jce-2016-0003.
- 50. Takase H, Dohi Y, Okado T, Hashimoto T, Goto Y, Kimura G. Effects of ezetimibe on visceral fat in the metabolic syndrome: a randomized controlled study. Euro J Clin Invest. 2012;42:1287-1294. doi: 10.1111/eci.12000.
- 51. Kim M, Tanaka K, Kim M, et al. Epicardial fat tissue: relationship with cardiorespiratory fitness in men. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2010;42:463-469. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181b8b1f0.
- 52. Park J, Park Y, Kim Y, et al. Effects of statins on the epicardial fat thickness in patients with coronary artery stenosis underwent percutaneous coronary intervention: comparison of atorvastatin with simvastatin/ezetimibe. J Cardiovasc Ultrasound. 2010;18:121–126. doi: 10.4250/jcu.2010.18.4.121.
- 53. Bo X, Ma L, Fan J, et al. Epicardial fat volume is correlated with coronary lesion and its severity. Int J Clin Exp Med. 2015;8:4328-4334. PMID: 26064349.
- 54. Park J, Choi S, Zheng M, et al. Epicardial adipose tissue thickness is a predictor for plaque vulnerability in patients with significant coronary artery disease. Atherosclerosis. 2013;226:134–139. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2012.11.001.

- 55. Ahn S, Lim H, Joe D, et al. Relationship of epicardial adipose tissue by echocardiography to coronary artery disease. Heart. 2008;94:e7. doi:10.1136/hrt.2007.118471.
- Alexopoulus N, McLean D, Janik M, Arepalli C, Stillman A, Raggi p. Epicardial adipose tissue and coronary artery plaque characteristics. Atherosclerosis. 2010;210:150–154. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2009.11.020.
- 57. Benedek T, Gyöngyösi M, Benedek I. Multislice Computed Tomographic Coronary Angiography for Quantitative Assessment of Culprit Lesions in Acute Coronary Syndromes. Can J Cardiol. 2013;29:364–371. doi: 10.1016/j.cjca.2012.11.004.
- 58. Maurovich-Horvat P, Schlett CL, Alkadhi H, et al. The napkin-ring sign indicates advanced atherosclerotic lesions in coronary CT angiography. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2012;5:1243-1252. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2012.03.019.
- 59. Benedek T, Mester A, Benedek A, Rat N, Opincariu D, Chiţu M. Assessment of Coronary Plaque Vulnerability in Acute Coronary Syndromes using Optical Coherence Tomography or Intravascular Ultrasound. A systematic Review. Journal of Cardiovascular Emergencies. 2016;2:173–184. doi: 10.1515/ jce-2016-0028.
- 60. Jang IK. Optical Coherence Tomography or Intravascular Ultrasound? JACC: Cardiovascular Interventions. 2011;4:492-494. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2011.02.004.
- 61. Tian J, Ren X, Vergallo R, et al. Distinct morphological features of ruptured culprit plaque for acute coronary events compared to those with silent rupture and thin-cap fibroatheroma: a combined optical coherence tomography and intravascular ultrasound study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2014;63:2209-2216. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2014.01.061.
- 62. Ding J, Hsu F, Harris T, et al. The association of pericardial fat with incident coronary heart disease: the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). Am J Clin Nutr. 2009;90:499-504. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2008.27358.
- 63. Granger C, Goldberg R, Dabbous O, et al. Predictors of hospital mortality in the Global Registry of Acute Coronary Events. Arch Intern Med. 2003;163:2345–2353. doi: 10.1001/ archinte.163.19.234.
- 64. Palmerini T, Genereux P, Caixeta A, et al. Prognostic value of the SYNTAX score in patients with acute coronary syndromes undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention: Analysis from

the ACUITY (Acute Catheterization and Urgent Intervention Triage StrategY) trial. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011;57:2389-2397. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2011.02.032.

- 65. Antman E, Cohen M, Bernink P, et al. The TIMI risk score for unstable angina/non-ST elevation MI: a method for prognostication and therapeutic decision making. JAMA. 2000;284:835-842. doi: 10.1001/jama.284.7.835.
- 66. de Lemos JA, Braunwald E. ST segment Resolution as a Tool for Assessing the Efficacy of Reperfusion Therapy. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2001;38:1283-1294. doi: 10.1016/S0735-1097(01)01550-9.
- 67. Opincariu D, Chitu M, Rat N, Benedek I. Integrated ST Segment Elevation Scores and In-hospital Mortality in STEMI Patients Undergoing Primary PCI. Journal of Cardiovascular Emergencies. 2016;2:114-121. doi: 10.1515/jce-2016-0018.
- 68. Husser O, Bodi V, Sanchis J, et al. White blood cell subtypes after STEMI: temporal evolution, association with cardiovascular magnetic resonance-derived infarct size and impact on the outcome. Inflammation. 2011;34:73–84. doi: 10.1007/s10753-010-9209-0.
- 69. Odeberg J, Freitag M, Forssell H, et al. Influence of preexisting inflammation on the outcome of acute coronary syndrome: a cross-sectional study. 2016;5:e009968. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-009968.
- 70. Tanindi A, Erkan A, Ekici B. Epicardial adipose tissue thickness can be used to predict major adverse cardiac events. Coronary Artery Disease. 2015;26:686–691. doi: 10.1097/ MCA.000000000000296.
- Hajsadeghi F, Nabavi V, Bhandari A, et al. Increased epicardial adipose tissue is associated with coronary artery disease and major adverse cardiovascular events. Atherosclerosis. 2014;237:486-489. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2014.09.037.
- 72. Cheng V, Dey D, Tamarappoo B, et al. Pericardial fat burden on ECG-gated non-contrast CT in asymptomatic patients who subsequently experience adverse cardiovascular events. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2010;3:352–360. doi: 10.1016/j. jcmg.2009.12.013.
- 73. Yamada H, Sata M. Does Echocardiographic Epicardial Adipose Tissue Thickness become a Usefull Biomarker? Journal of Atheroscler and Thromb. 2015;22:555-556. doi: 10.5551/jat. ED01.



#### ORIGINAL RESEARCH



# Regional Wall Motion Abnormalities and Ventricular Function in Acute Peri-Myocarditis

Claudia Matei<sup>1</sup>, András Mester<sup>2</sup>, Daniel Cernica<sup>2</sup>, Roxana Hodas<sup>2</sup>, Lehel Bordi<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> "Dr. C-tin Opriș" County Emergency Clinical Hospital, Baia Mare, Romania <sup>2</sup> County Emergency Clinical Hospital, Tîrgu Mureș, Romania

#### ABSTRACT

Introduction: Myocardial involvement in pericardial diseases and the effect of pericardial inflammation and effusion on the function of the left ventricle (LV) is still a controversial issue. The present study aimed to evaluate LV regional wall abnormalities in patients with acute peri-myocarditis, using 3D echocardiographic assessment of LV contractility. Material and **methods:** The study included 56 subjects divided into two groups: Group 1 - 28 subjects with acute peri-myocarditis and Group 2 - 28 healthy controls. All subjects underwent a complete clinical examination, including laboratory tests. 3D echocardiography was performed to assess the left ventricular end-diastolic (EDV) and end-systolic volumes (ESV), and to calculate specific indexes for global and regional ventricular contractility, such as the index of contraction amplitude (ICA) and the regional index of contraction amplitude (RICA) for each segment corresponding to the region affected by peri- myocarditis. Results: 3D echocardiography showed no differences between the groups regarding the EDV (p = 0.2), the LV ejection fraction (Group 1: 55.82% ± 3.36% vs. Group 2: 57.21% ± 4.69%, p = 0.2). The ESV however, was significantly higher in Group 1 compared to Group 2 (55.78 ± 5.45 ml vs. 52.20 ± 6.43 ml, p = 0.04). ICA was similar between the groups (p = 0.2). However, the RICA was significantly lower in Group 1 compared to Group 2 (2.27  $\pm$  0.63 vs. 5.16  $\pm$  0.54, p <0.0001). Conclusions: The extension of the inflammatory process from the pericardium to the adjacent myocardial layer may affect the contractility of the LV. A good association exists between peri-myocarditis and the regional contractility abnormalities of the LV.

Keywords: peri-myocarditis, echocardiography, original index of contraction, amplitude

#### **ARTICLE HISTORY**

Received: 14 January, 2017 Accepted: 26 February, 2017

#### CORRESPONDENCE

#### Claudia Matei

Str. Gheorghe Coșbuc nr. 31 430031 Baia Mare, Romania Tel: +40 740 085 662 E-mail: cabdia@yahoo.com

### **INTRODUCTION**

Pericardial diseases represent one of the most underdiagnosed cardiovascular conditions in clinical practice due to the absence of well-established diagnostic criteria.<sup>1,2</sup> This condition has been reported in approximately 1% of hospitalized patients and 5% of necropsies performed in general hospitals. The most common causes of acute pericarditis are represented by a viral infection, frequently labeled as idiopathic due to the difficult identification of the involved virus, followed by bacterial or parasitic infections.<sup>3</sup> Systemic inflammatory diseases, neoplasms, and traumas may represent the underlying cause of the acute inflammation of the peri– and myo–

András Mester: Str. Gheorghe Marinescu nr. 50, 540139 Tîrgu Mureş, Romania. Tel: +40 265 212 111. E-mail: andras.mester@yahoo.com Daniel Cernica: Str. Gheorghe Marinescu nr. 50, 540139 Tîrgu Mureş, Romania. Tel: +40 265 212 111. E-mail: daniel.cernica@gmail.com Roxana Hodas: Str. Gheorghe Marinescu nr. 50, 540139 Tîrgu Mureş, Romania. Tel: +40 265 212 111. E-mail: roxana.hodas@yahoo.ro Lehel Bordi: Str. Gheorghe Marinescu nr. 50, 540139 Tîrgu Mureş, Romania. Tel: +40 265 212 111. E-mail: bordi\_lehel@yahoo.com cardium.<sup>4</sup> Although pericarditis is considered a benign condition, its acute complications, such as cardiac tamponade or involvement of the myocardial layer, may lead to life-threatening conditions such as acute heart failure or death.<sup>5</sup> However, although a vast number of studies have investigated the clinical aspects of pericardial diseases, surprisingly few of them have analyzed the extension of the inflammatory process from the pericardium into the myocardium.<sup>6</sup>

The first-line diagnostic means for the recognition of peri-myocardial diseases are echocardiography and cardiac magnetic resonance (CMR), whereas computed tomography (CT) is considered a second-line option.<sup>7,8</sup> The recent improvement in different diagnostic techniques, notably echocardiography, and longer survival times have led to an increase in the recognition of pericardial diseases in recent years.<sup>9</sup>

The current literature mentions the possible effects of pericardial effusion accumulation on the general function of the heart, however, it does not state its exact influence on the regional wall motion abnormalities of the left ventricle (LV).

Our hypothesis is that the extension of the inflammatory process from the pericardium to the myocardial layer in acute peri-myocarditis may lead to the alteration of ventricular wall motion, involving the regions near to the affected pericardium.

The aim of our study was to evaluate regional ventricular wall motion abnormalities in patients with acute perimyocarditis using three-dimensional echocardiography.

#### **MATERIAL AND METHODS**

#### **STUDY DESIGN**

This is a prospective observational study, conducted at the Cardiology Clinic of the County Emergency Clinical Hospital of Tîrgu Mureş, Romania, in which fifty-six subjects were enrolled and divided into two groups: Group 1 - 28 patients diagnosed with acute peri-myocarditis; Group 2 - 28 healthy subjects, without any signs or symptoms of peri-myocarditis. The study protocol was approved by the Ethical Committee of the County Emergency Clinical Hospital of Tîrgu Mureş, Romania, and all patients signed a written informed consent form before enrollment.

#### **INCLUSION CRITERIA**

The inclusion criteria were the presence of clinical symptoms of acute chest pain that worsens on breathing or when changing the position of the body, associated with at least one of the following:

- pericardial friction rub;
- PR- or ST-segment modifications on the 12-lead electrocardiogram (ECG), suggestive for pericarditis;
- evidence of pericardial effusion/thickening of the pericardium with at least 5 m on transthoracic ECG.

#### **EXCLUSION CRITERIA**

- patients presenting with atherosclerotic or thrombotic coronary lesions;
- unstable angina;
- post-infarction angina;
- recent myocardial infarction;
- congestive heart failure;
- cancers;
- history of heart surgery;
- NYHA functional class 4;
- severe valve disease;
- severe renal, hepatic, hematologic or pulmonary disease;
- age below 18 years.

#### METHODOLOGY

#### **Clinical data**

The history and clinical data of all enrolled subjects were recorded, including age, gender, cardiovascular risk factors (diabetes mellitus, hypertension, dyslipidemia, smoking, family history of cardiovascular diseases), and personal history (stable/unstable angina, myocardial infarction, ischemic heart disease, stroke).

#### Paraclinical data

Standard 12-lead resting ECG was obtained from all patients, documenting the existence of any abnormality of the repolarization phase.

Echocardiography was performed using an Agilent Sonos 4500 ultrasound imaging system (Philips, Amsterdam, the Netherlands), and the following parameters were recorded:

- pericardial thickening;
- amount and location of pericardial fluid;
- left ventricular volumes;
- left ventricular ejection fraction;
- · contraction abnormalities.

Three-dimensional echocardiography was also performed for the assessment of the following:

- total and regional left ventricular ejection fraction;
- detection of regional wall motion abnormalities;
- calculation of the end-diastolic and end-systolic volume;
- evaluation of the regions with wall motion abnormalities (contraction asynchronies);
- measurement of the delay in maximal global systolic contraction amplitude, assessment of the index of contraction amplitude (ICA);
- regional index of contraction amplitude (RICA);
- the volumetric curve for each ventricular region;
- polar mapping of the delay in maximal systolic contraction amplitude.

For patients in Group 2, the contractility index was calculated for each ventricular region corresponding to the region affected by peri-myocarditis compared to the regions without peri-myocarditis.

As the clinical, laboratory, and ECG findings in acute peri-myocarditis may be similar to ischemic coronary disease, invasive coronary angiography was performed in cases when an acute coronary syndrome could not be ruled out by noninvasive examination.

The study has been carried out in accordance with the code of ethics of the World Medical Association's Declaration of Helsinki. All patients gave written informed consent, and the study protocol was approved by the ethics committee of the institution where the study was conducted.

#### STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

JMP statistical software was used for statistical analysis. The Mann-Whitney test was used for continuous values expressed as means (SD). Fisher's exact test or the Chisquare test was used for the comparison of categorical variables expressed as percentages. The level of significance was set at  $\alpha$  = 0.05.

#### RESULTS

#### **BASELINE AND CLINICAL CHARACTERISTICS**

There was no significant difference between the two study groups regarding age, with a mean of  $55.28 \pm 11.28$  years in Group 1 vs.  $53.6 \pm 10.51$  years in Group 2 (p = 0.5). There was a preponderance of female subjects in both study groups (p = 0.1). The presence of cardiovascular risk factors and comorbidities was similar in the two study groups in respect of diabetes mellitus (p = 0.7), hypertension (p = 0.5), obesity (p = 0.7), and smoking (p = 0.2) (Table 1).

#### ECHOCARDIOGRAPHIC FINDINGS

M-mode and two-dimensional echocardiography revealed thickening of the pericardium. The localization of the pericardial effusion was mainly in the lateral region of the left ventricle (n = 12, 42.8%), followed by the inferior region of the left ventricle (n = 10, 35.7%), and the apical region (n = 6, 21.4%). M-mode and two-dimensional echocardiography showed no pathological findings in Group 2.

Three-dimensional echocardiographic analysis of the global and regional contractility showed no significant difference between the two study groups in terms of end-diastolic volume (EDV), with a mean of 123.14 ± 11.87 ml in Group 1 vs. 126.25 ± 7.2 ml in Group 2 (p = 0.2) (Figure 1A).

The end-systolic volume (ESV) was significantly higher in patients from Group 1 with 55.78  $\pm$  5.45 ml (95% CI: 53.67-57.90) vs. 52.50  $\pm$  6.43 ml (95% CI: 50.00-54.99) in Group 2 (p = 0.04) (Figure 1B).

There was no significant difference in respect of the calculated global ejection fraction (EF) between the study

TABLE 1.	Baseline c	haracteristics	of the	e study	groups
----------	------------	----------------	--------	---------	--------

Laboratory findings	Group 1 n = 28	Group 2 n = 28	p value
Age	55.28 ± 11.28	53.60 ± 10.51	0.5
Female gender, n (%)	19 (67.85%)	18 (64.28%)	0.1
Diabetes mellitus, n (%)	9 (32.14%)	7 (25.00%)	0.7
Hypertension, n (%)	10 (35.71%)	7 (25.00%)	0.5
Obesity, n (%)	5 (17.85%)	7 (25.00%)	0.7
Smoking (past or present), n (%)	11 (39.28%)	8 (28.57%)	0.2



FIGURE 1. A- End-diastolic volume of the study groups. B - End-systolic volume of the study groups

groups, with 55.82 ± 3.36 % (95% CI: 54.52–57.13) in Group 1 vs. 57.21 ± 4.69% (95% CI: 55.39–59.03) in Group 2 (p = 0.2) (Figure 2).

ICA was similar in the two study groups with a value of  $3.22 \pm 0.68$  (95% CI: 2.92–3.53) for patients with acute peri-myocarditis vs.  $3.93 \pm 0.33$  (95% CI: 3.76-4.11) in the control group (p = 0.2).

RICA was significantly lower in the proximity of the affected peri-myocardium in patients with acute peri-myocarditis in Group 1, with a mean of  $2.27 \pm 0.63$  (95% CI: 2.02-2.51) vs.  $5.16 \pm 0.54$  (95% CI: 4.95-5.37) in Group 2 (p < 0.0001) (Figure 3).

### DISCUSSION

Peri-myocarditis can occur at any age, with peak prevalence middle-aged subjects. The mean age of our study population with acute peri-myocarditis was  $55.28 \pm 11.28$ years. Some authors suggest that there may be a difference in respect of age in patients presenting with acute pericarditis versus those showing associated myocardial affection. $^{10}$ 

The literature data is conflicting regarding the sex-related risk of developing peri-myocarditis.<sup>11,12</sup> In an experimental study, Frisancho-Kiss *et al.* (2009) reported on the role of testosterone in the development of myocarditis.<sup>13</sup> In the present study female gender was predominant in patients with acute peri-myocarditis (67.85%). These results may be explained by the fact that systemic inflammatory diseases are more common in females, and some authors suggest that progesterone may aggravate myocardial inflammation, though estrogen inhibits the immune response.<sup>14,15</sup>

No significant differences were recorded between the two groups in terms of associated comorbidities such as diabetes mellitus (p = 0.7), hypertension (p = 0.5), obesity (p = 0.7), and smoking (p = 0.2), suggesting that these well-known cardiovascular risk factors do not have an influence on the inflammatory process that is taking place during the acute phase of peri-myocardial disease.<sup>16</sup>



**FIGURE 2.** Ejection fraction of the study groups



FIGURE 3. Regional index of contraction amplitude (RICA)

Echocardiography is the first-line diagnostic choice for the identification of acute pericarditis, being a noninvasive, commonly available examination. It has a high accuracy in assessing the hemodynamic and physiologic influences on heart function.<sup>8</sup>

Acute heart failure can be caused by the existence of large myocardial inflammation zones resulting in a reduction of left ventricular ejection fraction, characterizing a rare, but severe complication of peri-myocarditis.<sup>17</sup> A significant amount of rapidly accumulated pericardial effusion causing cardiac tamponade represents a lifethreatening condition in acute pericarditis, which requires immediate treatment.<sup>18</sup> In the current study, the thickening of the pericardium and the presence of pericardial effusion, identified by echocardiography, did not have a significant bearing on the performance of the left ventricle expressed by the left ventricular ejection fraction, enddiastolic volume, and end-systolic volume in patients with acute peri-myocarditis. The global ICA, determined by three-dimensional echocardiography, was lower for Group 1 patients with acute peri-myocarditis compared with the control group, although the difference was not significant (p = 0.2). These results are concordant with literature data, as acute peri-myocarditis rarely has a major effect on the overall function of the heart.<sup>19</sup> In an MRIcontrolled study, Goitein et al. (2009) reported 23 patients presenting acute myocarditis with a mean left ventricular EF of 57%, without any significant decrease in the global function of the left ventricle.<sup>20</sup>

Pericardial effusion and regional wall motion abnormalities were mainly present on the lateral wall of the left ventricle (42.8%), followed by the inferior wall (35.7%) and the apex (21.4%). In a study of 100 patients with acute peri-myocarditis, Leitman *et al.* (2012) reported a predominance of regional wall abnormalities of the posteroinferolateral wall of the LV in the absence of any effect on LV performance.<sup>21</sup>

In the present study, the RICA was significantly lower in the proximity of the affected myocardial areas in Group 1 patients compared with Group 2 (p <0.0001). This may be explained by the presence of pericardial effusion and the thickening of the pericardium, which has a bearing on the regional wall motion through the extension of the inflammatory process from the pericardium to the adjacent myocardium but does not affect the overall function of the left ventricle. Speckle-tracking imaging may also identify regional wall motion abnormalities in patients with acute peri-myocarditis.<sup>22</sup>

The hemodynamic impact of pericardial effusions varies from mild to life-threatening, depending on the rate of accumulation and the thickness of the pericardium. Adhesions of the pericardial layers and localized liquid buildup may develop an atypical tamponade.10 However, no patient with cardiac tamponade was recorded in the current study.

#### CONCLUSIONS

Detailed echocardiographic evaluation of patients presenting with a possible acute peri-myocarditis should be considered the basis of clinical differentiation of peri-myocardial syndromes. The extension of the inflammatory process from the pericardium to the myocardium in patients with acute peri-myocarditis may have an influence on the contractility of the left ventricle, evaluated by three-dimensional echocardiography based on objective assessment and quantification of contractility parameters. Statistical analysis of an easily measurable objective echocardiographic parameter such as the regional index of contractility amplitude, demonstrated the existence of an association between the presence of peri-myocarditis and the regional contractility abnormalities of the left ventricle.

#### CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Nothing to declare.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This research was supported via the research grant no. 103545/2016, contract number 72/2006, entitled "Translation of genomic research in tridimensional reconstruction and intracardiac imaging in diagnosis and treatment of several congenital or acquired heart diseases in young adult- TRIDICO" financed by Academy of Medical Sciences, Ministry of Education and Research through CEEX 2006 program.

#### REFERENCES

- Imazio M, Gaita F, LeWinter M. Evaluation and Treatment of Pericarditis. A Systematic Review. JAMA. 2015;314:1498-1506. doi: 10.1001/jama.2015.12763.
- Lazaros G, Imazio M, Brucato A, Tousoulis D. Untying the Gordian knot of pericardial diseases: A pragmatic approach. Hellenic J Cardiol. 2016;pii:S1109-9666(16)30305-0. doi: 10.1016/j.hjc.2016.11.024.
- 3. Imazio M, Cecchi E, Demichelis B, et al. Myopericarditis versus viral or idiopathic acute pericarditis. Heart. 2008;94:498-501. doi: 10.1136/hrt.2006.104067.
- 4. Cantarini L, Imazio M, Brizi MG, et al. Role of autoimmunity and autoinflammation in the pathogenesis of idiopathic

recurrent pericarditis. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol. 2013;44:6-13. doi: 10.1007/s12016-010-8219-x.

- Buiatti A, Merlo M, Pinamonti B, De Biasio M, Bussani R, Sinagra G. Clinical presentation and long-term follow-up of perimyocarditis. J Cardiovasc Med (Hagerstown). 2013;14:235-241. doi: 10.2459/JCM.0b013e328351da6e.
- 6. Chang SA, Kim HK, Kim YJ, Cho GY, Oh S, Sohn DW. Role of pericardium in the maintenance of left ventricular twist. Heart. 2010;96:785-790. doi: 10.1136/hrt.2009.182345.
- Otto C. Pericardial Disease. In: Textbook of Clinical Echocardiography. 5th edition. Philadelphia: Elsevier Saunders; 2013. p. 254–271.
- Klein AL, Abbara S, Agler DA, et al. American Society of Echocardiography clinical recommendations for multimodality cardiovascular imaging of patients with pericardial disease. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2013;26:965-1012.e15. doi: 10.1016/j. echo.2013.06.023.
- 9. Jenkins C, Marwick TH. Baseline and follow-up assessment of regional left ventricular volume using 3-dimensional echocardiography: comparison with cardiac magnetic resonance. Cardiovasc Ultrasound. 2009;7:55. doi: 10.1186/1476-7120-7-55.
- Ville K, Jussi S, Päivi R. Clinical Profile and Influences on Outcomes in Patients Hospitalized for Acute Pericarditis. Circulation. 2014;130:1601-1606. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.114.010376.
- 11. Zayas R, Anguita M, Torres F, et al. Incidence of specific etiology and role of methods for specific etiologic diagnosis of primary acute pericarditis. Am J Cardiol. 1995;75:378–382.
- Imazio M, Bobbio M, Cecchi E, et al. Colchicine in addition to conventional therapy for acute pericarditis: results of the COlchicine for acute PEricarditis (COPE) trial. Circulation. 2005;112:2012–2016. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.105.542738.
- 13. Frisancho-Kiss S, Coronado MJ, Frisancho JA, et al. Gonadectomy of male BALB/c mice increases Tim-3(+) alternatively activated M2 macrophages, Tim-3(+) T cells, Th2 cells and Treg in the heart during acute Coxsackievirus-

induced myocarditis. Brain Behav Immun. 2009;23:649-657. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2008.12.002.

- 14. Lyden DC, Huber SA. Aggravation of coxsackievirus, group B, type 3-induced myocarditis and increase in cellular immunity to myocyte antigens in pregnant Balb/c mice and animals treated with progesterone. Cell Immunol. 1984;87:462-472.
- 15. Huber SA. Coxsackievirus B3-induced myocarditis: infection of females during the estrus phase of the ovarian cycle leads to activation of T regulatory cells. Virology. 2008;378:292–298. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2008.05.015.
- 16. Kato S, Morimoto S, Hiramitsu S, et al. Risk factors for patients developing a fulminant course with acute myocarditis. Circ J. 2004;68:734-739.
- 17. Basman C, Agrawal PR, McRee C, et al. Diagnostic Approach to Myocarditis Mimicking Myocardial Infarction at Initial Presentation. Cardiol Res. 2016;7:209–213. doi: 10.14740/ cr485w.
- Streuber S, Noack F, Stoevesandt D, Schlitt A. 102 patients with suspected myocarditis: clinical presentation, diagnostics, therapy and prognosis. Herz. 2017. doi: 10.1007/s00059-016-4524-3. [Epub ahead of print]
- 19. Sturmberger T, Niel J, Aichinger J, Ebner C. Acute myocarditis with normal wall motion detected with 2D speckle-tracking echocardiography Echo Res Pract. 2016;3:K15-K19. doi: 10.1530/ERP-16-0013.
- 20. Goitein O, Matetzky S, Beinart R, et al. Acute myocarditis: noninvasive evaluation with cardiac MRI and transthoracic echocardiography. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2009;192:254–258. doi: 10.2214/AJR.08.1281.
- 21. Leitman M, Tyomkin V, Peleg E. Left ventricular function in acute inflammatory peri-myocardial diseases new insights and long-term follow-up. Cardiovasc Ultrasound. 2012;10:42. doi: 10.1186/1476-7120-10-42.
- 22. Leitman M, Bachner-Hinenzon N, Adam D, et al. Speckletracking imaging in acute inflammatory pericardial diseases. Echocardiography. 2011;28:548-555. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-8175.2010.01371.x.



CLINICAL UPDATE

# Computed Tomography — an Emerging Tool for Triple Rule-Out in the Emergency Department. A Review

# Mihaela Dobra<sup>1</sup>, Lehel Bordi<sup>1</sup>, Tiberiu Nyulas<sup>2</sup>, Alexandra Stănescu<sup>1</sup>, Mirabela Morariu<sup>1</sup>, Sebastian Condrea<sup>1</sup>, Theodora Benedek<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Center of Advanced Research in Multimodality Cardiac Imaging, Cardio Med Medical Center, Tîrgu Mureş, Romania <sup>2</sup> University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Tîrgu Mureş, Romania

#### ABSTRACT

New imaging tools have been developed in recent years to rapidly and accurately diagnose life-threatening diseases associated with high mortality rates, such as acute coronary syndromes, acute aortic dissection, or pulmonary embolism. The concept of using computed tomographic (CT) assessment in emergency settings is based on the possibility of excluding multiple acute pathologies within one scan. It can be used for patients complaining of acute chest pain of unclear etiology with the possible association of acute coronary dissection or pulmonary embolism, but only a low to moderate risk of developing an acute coronary syndrome. One of the benefits of this protocol is the possibility of decreasing the number of patients who are hospitalized for further investigations. The technique also allows the rapid triage of patients and the safe discharge of those who show negative results. The aim of this review is to summarize the current medical literature regarding the potential use of CT for the triple rule-out (TRO) of coronary etiologies.

Keywords: CT, triple rule-out, emergency department, chest pain

#### **ARTICLE HISTORY**

Received: 8 October, 2016 Accepted: 19 November, 2016

#### CORRESPONDENCE

#### Lehel Bordi

Str. 22 Decembrie 1989 nr. 76 540124 Tîrgu Mureş, Romania Tel: +40 265 217 333 E-mail: bordi\_lehel:gmail.com

### INTRODUCTION

The effective triage of patients who are admitted through the emergency department (ED) complaining of chest pain is a common challenge in the field of emergency cardiology. By achieving this goal, the patients would benefit from an accurate diagnosis and also a decreased mortality rate due to an appropriate approach and adequate therapy. Chest pain is a frequent symptom for many visits to the ED. The most recent health statistics published in 2010 by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) emphasized that chest pain is the primary symptom in 9% of patients who present to the ED.<sup>1</sup> Patients with chest pain as a primary complaint can develop acute coronary syndromes (ACS), and it is important for the patient to undergo a specific treatment. Un-

Mihaela Dobra: Str. 22 Decembrie 1989 nr. 76, 540124 Tîrgu Mureş, Romania. Tel: +40 265 217 333. E-mail: d\_a\_mihaela@yahoo.com Tiberiu Nyulas: Str. Gheorghe Marinescu nr. 38, 540139 Tîrgu Mureş, Romania. Tel: +40 265 215 551. E-mail: tiberiu.nyulas@gmail.com Alexandra Stănescu: Str. 22 Decembrie 1989 nr. 76, 540124 Tîrgu Mureş, Romania. Tel: +40 265 217 333. E-mail: alexandrastanescu90@gmail.com Mirabela Morariu: Str. 22 Decembrie 1989 nr. 76, 540124 Tîrgu Mureş, Romania. Tel: +40 265 217 333. E-mail: mirabela.morariu@yahoo.com Sebastian Condrea: Str. 22 Decembrie 1989 nr. 76, 540124 Tîrgu Mureş, Romania. Tel: +40 265 217 333. E-mail: sebastian.condrea@yahoo.com Theodora Benedek: Str. Gheorghe Marinescu nr. 38, 540139 Tîrgu Mureş, Romania. Tel: +40 265 215 551. E-mail: theodora.benedek@gmail.com



fortunately, many studies emphasized that patients with ACS are misdiagnosed and discharged unsafely, and their mortality rate reaches 2%.<sup>2-5</sup>

The first evaluation of patients who are admitted through the ED with chest pain as a primary symptom consists of blood tests analysis of the cardiac enzymes and electrocardiogram (ECG), and if these are modified, more specific invasive diagnosing procedures are needed.<sup>6</sup> Currently, along with the development of imaging techniques, patients are further investigated with noninvasive procedures such as computed tomography (CT), which seems to have a good specificity in the triage of patients accusing chest pain in the ED.7-9 The role of CT in evaluating ACS patients with low to intermediate risk was studied in many trials that concluded that it is a safe investigation, with a sensitivity of 86–100% and a high negative predictive rate of 93-100%.<sup>10-12</sup> In a meta-analysis published in 2002, Safriel et al. found that CT has a sensitivity of 71.4% and a specificity of 89.5% in detecting pulmonary embolism.<sup>13</sup> Another life-threatening disease that can be ruled out using CT is acute aortic dissection. Nienaber et al. found that CT has a sensitivity of 93.8% in detecting aortic dissection, whereas magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) was associated with a sensitivity of 98.3%.<sup>14</sup> These three diagnoses: ACS, pulmonary embolism, and acute aortic dissection, are considered to lead to a high mortality rate and thus their early diagnose is vital.<sup>15–17</sup> Aortic dissection type A is associated with a mortality rate of 1% per hour initially and almost 80% after 2 weeks, whereas aortic dissection type B has lower death rates, 10% at 30 days.<sup>18</sup> The International Cooperative Pulmonary Embolism Registry reported a mortality higher than 15% in patients with pulmonary embolism.<sup>19</sup> Having such a huge social impact, the need of an imaging modality appeared, that would assess, with a single examination, the pulmonary arteries, the thoracic aorta, and the coronary arteries, in order to rule out these three pathologies. Thus, the idea of triple-rule-out computed tomography (TRO-CT) emerged, which can be used in the ED for patients who present chest pain without ECG changes or high levels of cardiac enzymes, who are suspected of life-threatening diseases such as those mentioned above.

To exclude these three life-threatening diseases with one single scan, CT should be performed using an ECGgated protocol, as the coronary arteries cannot be analyzed by regular thoracic CT. A clear imaging protocol and appropriate patient preparation are prerequisites for a good quality assessment.

CT is an imaging tool highly suitable for patients who have been evaluated as having a low to intermediate risk

of developing an acute coronary syndrome. It is not always easy for the clinician to decide whether a patient with chest pain requires hospitalization or can be safely discharged, especially in cases when ECG changes are not specific.<sup>20–22</sup>

Using the triple rule-out strategy in the evaluation of patients with atypical chest pain, border levels of cardiac enzymes and non-pathognomonic ECG changes can help in deciding on the best therapeutic strategy and the safe discharge of patients.

The aim of this manuscript is to emphasize the benefits of using CT in patients who present with chest pain and have been evaluated as having a low to moderate risk for developing an acute coronary syndrome. At the same time, it aims to illustrate the most recent advances regarding the ability of the scan to rule out three major pathologies associated with high mortality rates: acute coronary syndrome, pulmonary embolism, and aortic dissection.

# THE ECONOMIC IMPACT OF USING TRO-CT IN THE ED

It has been proved that the CT-based assessment can significantly reduce the economic impact generated by the unnecessary hospitalizations of patients. Henzler *et al.* (2013) recently demonstrated that integrating the triple rule-out protocol in the evaluation of patients referring at the ED for chest pain reduces the number of hospitalizations and consequently the related costs. They performed a comparative assessment of the expenses related to patients whose treatment was based on standard care and patients who received the triple rule-out CT protocol. They observed that the costs were lower in the group of patients following a triple rule-out protocol, the majority of them being discharged on the same day, compared with the second group in which the patients were hospitalized and underwent further invasive diagnostic procedures.<sup>23</sup>

Khare *et al.* (2009) agreed with these views and concluded that using this protocol the costs were lower than using other stress-based procedures for patients at low to moderate risk. Thus, they reported the costs of care associated with low risk patients who presented in the ED for chest pain as follows: the costs amounted to \$2,684 in case of patients who underwent CT compared to the \$3,265 associated with stress echocardiography.<sup>24</sup>

Patients admitted with atypical chest pain, without ST-segment elevation on the ECG and exhibiting slightly modified levels of cardiac enzymes, are usually hospitalized and receive invasive coronary angiography to exclude coronary artery disease. In such cases, hospital stays are longer, with concomitant increases in expenditure. A triple rule-out CT strategy could be helpful in reducing healthcare-related costs.

The benefits of the procedure consist in the evaluation of the three arteries and also the upper level of the chest in a single scan. The TRO-CT protocol results in a speedier examination and a safer triage. Recent studies indicated that, on average, 18% of physicians base the triage on triple rule-out CT for patients with chest pain.<sup>25,26</sup>

# WHICH ARE THE ELIGIBLE PATIENTS FOR THE TRIPLE-RULE-OUT CT PROTOCOL?

For a correct application of the triple-rule-out CT protocol, it is crucial to establish the exact inclusion criteria of eligible patients. First, the diagnostic protocol is used in patients with acute chest pain of doubtful etiology. Secondly, it is important to evaluate the stratification risk of developing an acute coronary syndrome. Only patients assessed as having a low to moderate risk gain an advantage from this approach. Patients who attend with acute chest pain with elevated cardiac enzymes and ST-segment elevation should not have CT as a primary strategy. The correct therapeutic approach is usually an invasive one, with time being of the essence. Yoon et al. (2001) stated that triple-rule-out CT should not be a routine screening tool used in the ED and should be included in the assessment of patients with suspicion of aortic dissection or pulmonary embolism.28

# TRIPLE-RULE-OUT PROTOCOL-BASED STUDIES

In 2008, Takakuwa *et al.* published the first large study on triple-rule-out CT protocol in which they enrolled 197 patients who accused chest pain at their visit at the ED. They observed that in 11% of the patients the chest pain was due to coronary disease that required further diagnostic testing.<sup>29</sup>

Gruettner *et al.* (2013) assessed one hundred patients with acute chest pain. They performed the triple-rule-out CT protocol or coronary CT, and all patients were followed for 90 days to evaluate the rate of major adverse cardiac events (MACE). They observed that 60% of patients could be rapidly discharged on the same day, following the exclusion of non-coronary disease and concluded that triple-rule-out CT might contribute to lowering the number of diagnostic angiographies.<sup>30</sup>

An aspect that should not be ignored is the high dose of radiation that is required for triple-rule-out CT. Many

studies emphasized that the high–dose radiation exposure is due to long scanning length.  $^{\rm 31-34}$ 

A meta-analysis published in 2013 highlighted the radiation aspect of the TRO-CT. Ayaram *et al.* (2013) studied radiation exposure in 2,307 patients, of which 377 were included in the triple-rule-out CT group and 1,930 in the control group. A statistically significant difference was observed between the two groups, patients assessed with TRO-CT being exposed to a significantly higher dose of ionising radiation.<sup>34</sup>

### THE TRIPLE-RULE-OUT CT PROTOCOL

The basic technical challenge of this method is to obtain simultaneously an intense, consistent contrast enhancement in all three arterial territories. This can be accomplished only by using a tailored contrast medium administration regimen.<sup>35</sup> Usually biphasic injection is preferred, contsisting of the administration of an undiluted contrast, followed by diluted contrast medium with saline. This type of contrast administration provides a highly homogeneous contrast enhancement in the aorta and coronary arteries and a slightly lower but also homogeneous contrast in the pulmonary arteries. Several variants regarding the volume and rate of contrast and saline are proposed for a scanning time of 15 seconds. A rapid flow rate in both phases is indicated to minimize venous return from the inferior vena cava, and for a good image quality it is also important to adjust the contrast dose not to have bright contrast in the superior vena cava during scanning time.<sup>36</sup> The region of interest for the triple-rule-out technique is in the left atrium, and scanning starts after 5 seconds after the threshold value is reached, in order to get the peak contrast intensity of the aorta and coronary arteries.

Similarly to a coronary computed tomography angiography (CCTA), in order to get a high image quality, triple-rule-out studies use ECG gating to reduce motion artefacts produced by cardiac pulsations, and acquisitions are performed during breath-hold to prevent respiratory movement artefacts.

To reduce radiation doses, a prospective ECG-gated acquisition is preferred, but it is only suitable in patients with a stable heart rate.

The "field of view" is another parameter that is adjusted to reduce radiation exposure. Because the radiation dose is directly proportional to the scan length, in the triple-rule-out technique the acquisition includes only the thoracic aorta and the heart, while lung apices above the aortic arch are not included.<sup>37</sup> Scans are designed to start at the base of the heart, with the superior margin at one cm above the aortic arch. An important aspect concerning acquisition is the scanning direction, which is caudalcranial in order to include distal pulmonary arteries at the base of the lungs, which otherwise may be visualized at a low contrast intensity.

#### CONCLUSION

Triple-rule-out computed tomography angiography is a relatively new technique used in the evaluation of acute chest pain in patients without invasive coronary angiography indication. Using an optimized CT protocol with tailored parameters for decreased radiation exposure concomitant with an efficient contrast medium injection, the triple-rule-out CT protocol is a powerful tool suitable for simultaneously evaluating the thoracic aorta, the coronary arteries, and the pulmonary arteries. Further data is needed to validate this protocol in the assessment of patients with acute chest pain before it can be validated as a routine emergency screening tool.

#### **CONFLICT OF INTEREST**

Nothing to declare.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This research was supported via the research grant no. 103545/2016, contract number 43/05.09.2016, entitled "High performance multimodal MRI/CT imaging platform, for applications in computational medicine, nanoparticles and hybrid imaging for the research of atherothrombotic disorders – CARDIO IMAGE" financed by the Romanian Ministry of European Funds, the Romanian Government and the European Union.

#### REFERENCES

- Bhuiya FA, Pitts SR, McCaig LF. Emergency department visits for chest pain and abdominal pain: United States, 1999–2008. NCHS data brief. 2010;43:1–8.
- Pope JH, Aufderheide TP, Ruthazer R, et al. Missed diagnoses of acute cardiac ischemia in the emergency department. N Engl J Med. 2000;342:1163–1170. doi: 10.1056/ NEJM200004203421603.
- McCarthy BD, Beshansky JR, D'Agostino RB, et al. Missed diagnoses of acute myocardial infarction in the emergency department: results from a multicenter study. Ann Emerg Med. 1993;22:579–582. doi: 10.1016/S0196–0644(05)81945–6.
- 4. Pelberg AL. Missed myocardial infarction in the emergency room. Qual Assur Util Rev. 1989;4:39-42. doi:10.1016/j. annemergmed.2006.06.035.

- Rusnak RA, Stair TO, Hansen KN, et al. Litigation against the emergency physician: common features in cases of missed myocardial infarction. Ann Emerg Med. 1989;18:1029–1034. doi:10.1016/S0196-0644(89)80924-2.
- 6. Anderson JL, Adams CD, Antman EM, et al. ACC/AHA 2007 guidelines for the management of patients with unstable angina/non-ST-elevation myocardial infarction: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Writing Committee to Revise the 2002 Guidelines for the Management of Patients With Unstable Angina/Non-ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction). J Am Coll Cardiol. 2007;50:e1-e157. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2007.02.013.
- Rubinshtein R, Halon DA, Gaspar T, et al. Usefulness of 64-slice cardiac computed tomographic angiography for diagnosing acute coronary syndromes and predicting clinical outcome in emergency department patients with chest pain of uncertain origin. Circulation. 2007;115:1762–1768. doi: 10.1161/ circulationaha.106.61838.
- 8. Beigel R, Oieru D, Goitein O, et al. Usefulness of routine use of multidetector coronary computed tomography in the 'fast track' evaluation of patients with acute chest pain. Am J Cardiol. 2009;103:1481–1486. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2009.02.009.
- Fazel P, Peterman MA, Schussler JM. Three-year outcomes and cost analysis in patients receiving 64-slice computed tomographic coronary angiography for chest pain. Am J Cardiol. 2009;104:498-500. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2009.04.011.
- Hoffmann U, Truong QA, Schoenfeld DA, et al. ROMICAT-II Investigators. Coronary CT angiography versus standard evaluation in acute chest pain. N Engl J Med. 2012;367:299– 308. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1201161.
- Litt HI, Gatsonis C, Snyder B, et al. CT angiography for safe discharge of patients with possible acute coronary syndromes. N Engl J Med. 2012;366:1393-1403. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa1201163.
- Goldstein JA, Chinnaiyan KM, Abidov A, et al. The CT-STAT (coronary computed tomographic angiography for systematic triage of acute chest pain patients to treatment) trial. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011;58:1414–1422. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2011.03.068.
- 13. Safriel Y, Zinn H. CT pulmonary angiography in the detection of pulmonary emboli: a meta-analysis of sensitivities and specificities. Clin Imaging. 2002;30;26:101-105.
- 14. Nienaber CA, von Kodolitsch Y, Nicolas V, Siglow V, Piepho A, Brockhoff C, Koschyk DH, Spielmann RP. The diagnosis of thoracic aortic dissection by noninvasive imaging procedures. New England Journal of Medicine. 1993;328:1–9.
- 15. Kolansky DM. Acute coronary syndromes: morbidity, mortality, and pharmacoeconomic burden. Am J Manag Care. 2009;15:S36–S41.
- 16. Hagan PG, Nienaber CA, Isselbacher EM, et al. The International Registry of Acute Aortic Dissection (IRAD): new insights into an old disease. JAMA. 2000;283:897–903.
- 17. Eagle KA, Lim MJ, Dabbous OH, et al. A validated prediction model for all forms of acute coronary syndrome: estimating the risk of 6-month postdischarge death in an international registry. JAMA. 2004;291:2727-2733. doi:10.1001/jama.291. 22.2727.
- Coady MA, Rizzo JA, Goldstein LJ, Elefteriades JA. Natural history, pathogenesis, and etiology of thoracic aortic aneurysms and dissections. Cardiol Clin. 1999;17:615–613.

- 19. Goldhaber SZ, Visani L, De Rosa M. Acute pulmonary embolism: clinical outcomes in the International Cooperative Pulmonary Embolism Registry (ICOPER). Lancet. 1999;353:1386-1389.
- 20. Lee TH, Rouan GW, Weisberg MC, et al. Clinical characteristics and natural history of patients with acute myocardial infarction sent home from the emergency room. Am J Cardiol. 1987;60:219-224.
- Swap CJ, Nagurney JT. Value and limitations of chest pain history in the evaluation of patients with suspected acute coronary syndromes. JAMA. 2005;294:2623-2629. doi: 10.1001/jama.294.20.2623.
- 22. Zimmerman J, Fromm R, Meyer D, et al. Diagnostic marker cooperative study for the diagnosis of myocardial infarction. Circulation. 1999;99:1671-1677.
- 23. Henzler T, Gruettner J, Meyer M, et al. Coronary computed tomography and triple rule out CT in patients with acute chest pain and an intermediate cardiac risk for acute coronary syndrome: part 2: economic aspects. Eur J Radiol. 2013;82.1:106-111. doi: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2012.06.012.
- 24. Khare RK, Mark Courtney D, Powell ES, Venkatesh AK, Lee TA. Sixty-four-slice Computed Tomography of the Coronary Arteries: Cost-Effectiveness Analysis of Patients Presenting to the Emergency Department with Low-risk Chest Pain. Acad Emerg Med. 2008;15:623-632. doi: 10.1111/j.1553-2712.2008.00161.x.
- 25. Thomas J, Rideau AM, Paulson EK, Bisset GS. Emergency department imaging: current practice. J Am Coll Radiol. 2008;5:811–816. doi: 10.1016/j.jacr.2008.02.027.
- 26. Budoff MJ, Dowe D, Jollis JG, et al. Diagnostic performance of 64-multidetector row coronary computed tomographic angiography for evaluation of coronary artery stenosis in individuals without known coronary artery disease: results from the prospective multicenter ACCURACY (Assessment by Coronary Computed Tomographic Angiography of Individuals Undergoing Invasive Coronary Angiography) trial. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2008;52:1724-1732. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2008.07.031.
- 27. Hillman BJ. The uncritical use of high-tech medical imaging. N Engl J Med. 2010;363:4–6. doi: 10.1056/NEJMp1003173.
- 28. Yoon YE, Wann S. Evaluation of acute chest pain in the emergency department: "triple rule-out" computed

tomography angiography. Cardiol Rev. 2011;19:115-121. doi: 10.1097/CRD.ob013e31820f1501.

- 29. Takakuwa KM, Halpern EJ. Evaluation of a "Triple Rule–Out" Coronary CT Angiography Protocol: Use of 64–Section CT in Low-to-Moderate Risk Emergency Department Patients Suspected of Having Acute Coronary Syndrome. Radiology. 2008;248:438–446. doi: 10.1148/radiol.2482072169.
- 30. Gruettner J, Fink C, Walter T, et al. Coronary computed tomography and triple rule out CT in patients with acute chest pain and an intermediate cardiac risk profile. Part 1: impact on patient management. Eur Heart J. 2013;82:100–105. doi: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2012.06.001.
- Hausleiter J, Meyer T, Hadamitzky M, et al. Radiation dose estimates from cardiac multislice computed tomography in daily practice. Circulation. 2006;113:1305–1310. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.105.602490.
- 32. Leschka S, Alkadhi H, Plass A, et al. Accuracy of MSCT coronary angiography with 64-slice technology: first experience. Eur Heart J. 2005;26:1482-1437. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehi261.
- 33. Takakuwa KM, Halpern EJ, Gingold EL, Levin DC, Shofer FS. Radiation dose in a "triple rule-out" coronary CT angiography protocol of emergency department patients using 64–MDCT: the impact of ECG-based tube current modulation on age, sex, and body mass index. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2009;192:866– 872. doi: 10.2214/AJR.08.1758.
- 34. Ayaram D, Bellolio F, Laack T, et al. Triple Rule Out Ct Scan for Patients Presenting to the Emergency Department with Chest Pain: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Acad Emerg Med. 2013;20:861–871. doi: 10.1111/acem.12210.
- 35. Frauenfelder T, Appenzeller P, Karlo C, et al. Triple rule-out CT in the emergency department: protocols and spectrum of imaging findings. Eur Radiol. 2009;19:789-799. doi: 10.1007/ s00330-008-1231-3.
- Halpern EJ. Triple-rule-out CT angiography for evaluation of acute chest pain and possible acute coronary syndrome. Radiology. 2009;252:332–345. doi: 10.1148/radiol.2522082335.
- 37. Ferencik M, Nomura CH, Maurovich-Horvath P, et al. Quantitative parameters of image quality in 64-slice computed tomography angiography of the coronary arteries. Eur J Radiol. 2006;57:373-379. doi: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2005.12.023.



CASE REPORT

# Role of the Methylene Tetrahydrofolate Reductase (MTHFR) Gene Mutation in Acute Myocardial Infarction

# Beáta Jakó, János Sinkó

Emergency County Hospital, Miercurea Ciuc, Romania

#### ABSTRACT

This is a case report of a 36-year-old male who was diagnosed with acute inferior and right ventricular myocardial infarction and treated with percutaneous coronary angioplasty with a drug-eluting stent in the right coronary artery. A profile test for thrombophilia was performed for methylene tetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) gene mutation; the test was positive for a heterozygous mutation — C677C and 1298A. The patient received a long-term treatment with folic acid supplements, taken daily. This case report shows that medical doctors should have an outside-the-box approach for the diagnosis and therapeutic management of young patients who present with acute cardiovascular events. If the patient in question does not present clear cardiovascular risk factors for acute myocardial ischemia, the clinician should seek for possible causes, thus leading to several benefits in the management and secondary prevention of such cases.

**Keywords:** acute myocardial infarction, young patient, MTFR gene mutation, increased homocysteinemia

#### **ARTICLE HISTORY**

Received: 8 January, 2017 Accepted: 17 February, 2017

#### CORRESPONDENCE

#### Beáta Jakó

Str. Dr. Dénes László nr. 2 530173 Miercurea Ciuc, Romania Tel: +40 266 324 193 E-mail: beatajako@gmail.com

# INTRODUCTION

Adjustable risk factors for ischemic heart disease consist of elevated arterial blood pressure, hyperlipidemia, chronic tobacco use, increased body weight, sedentary lifestyle, diabetes mellitus, and anxiety.<sup>1</sup> Other aspects, such as gender and age, are unchangeable cardiovascular risk factors.<sup>2</sup> If a patient is admitted to the hospital for typical symptoms of an acute thrombotic event (acute myocardial infarction in the presented case), without any significant cardiovascular risk factors, the clinician is required to exclude genetic disorders as etiology for the acute diagnosis.<sup>3</sup> Genetic causes that have been shown to be independent risk factors for acute thrombotic events include the mutation of several genes that encode the coagulation factors, such as antithrombin, C and S protein, fibrinogen, prothrombin, and factor V from the clotting cascade.<sup>4</sup> The genetic mutation of the methylene tetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) gene, which causes a transitional shift in cytosine to thymidine on the 677 nucleotide, leads to a low enzymatic activity and a modified folic acid state with increased folate necessity. The 677 T mutation of the gene that encodes the MTHFR causes C/C, C/T, and T/T genotypes, leading to an elevated serum level of homocysteine in human subjects.<sup>5,6</sup> Increased levels of homocysteinemia lead to early atherosclerotic lesion formation and venous thromboembolism.<sup>7</sup>





FIGURE 1. Periprocedural coronary angiogram. A - right coronary stenosis, B - after thrombus aspiration, C - postinterventional

This manuscript is a report on a 36-year-old male who was admitted in emergency conditions, with acute chest pain that proved to be an acute right ventricular myocardial infarction (MI). A profile test for thrombophilia was performed for MTHFR gene mutation; the test was positive for a heterozygous mutation — C677C and 1298A.

### **CASE PRESENTATION**

The patient, male, 36 years old, presented to the Emergency Department after 3 hours from the onset of a constrictive, acute chest pain that irradiated down his left arm, with diaphoresis, nausea, and fatigue. The patient's medical history was negative for diabetes, high blood pressure, and chronic tobacco use. The patient did not present any family history of cardiac or cerebrovascular events. The clinical examination on admission revealed a regular heart beat (91/ min) and normal blood pressure (137/71 mmHg), with no other pathological modifications. The electrocardiography was illustrative of a postero-inferior and right ventricular ST elevation myocardial infarction (ST-segment elevation in leads D2, D3, aVF, V3R-V5R, ST depression in leads D1, aVL, V1-V2). The patient underwent emergency invasive coronary angiography that showed the acute thrombotic occlusion of the right coronary artery, for which a primary percutaneous coronary angioplasty with a drug-eluting stent was performed (Figure 1). The angiographic aspect of the left coronary artery did not show any atherosclerotic lesions. The laboratory tests were normal for the complete blood cell count, with normal ranges of serum cholesterol triglycerides, kidney and hepatic enzymes.

Following the percutaneous coronary intervention, the patient showed a complete resolution of ST-segment elevation, as well as the disappearance of chest pain and other symptoms. The full hospitalization time was 5 days.

Due to the young age of the subject, screening for thrombophilia was performed, which included testing for MTHFR gene mutation. The screening results showed that the patient was positive for a heterozygous (C677C and 1298A) MTHFR gene mutation. Also, the patient had an increased serum level of homocysteine: 10.5  $\mu$ mol/L (normal range <10  $\mu$ mol/L).

A hematology consult was requested, which recommended decreasing the homocysteine level, without longterm oral anticoagulant therapy. The patient has been followed-up in out-patient conditions at regular time periods.

The patient agreed to the publication of his data and the institution where the patient had been admitted approved the publication of the case.

#### DISCUSSION

Coronary atherosclerotic lesions appear as a result of a complex process that takes place within the vessel wall. Several studies have evaluated the involvement of homo-cysteine in the process of cell injury at the level of the endothelium.<sup>8,9</sup>

Genetic polymorphism associated with several risk factors leads to increased incidence of ischemic heart disease. Elevated serum levels of homocysteine, caused by MTHFR gene mutation, can be treated with folate supplements. It has been shown that the clinical evolution of arterial or venous thrombotic events in patients with MTHFR gene mutation and increased homocysteine levels improves under supplementation with folic acid, as seen also in this case report.<sup>10</sup> Gene disorders that affect clotting factor V, prothrombin, and homocysteine, increase the risk of developing acute coronary syndromes or stroke, especially at a young age.<sup>11</sup> Nevertheless, the screening protocol applies to a relatively low number of subjects, since the number of patients who present the association of acute myocardial infarction and these mutations is modest. The tendency for thrombotic events, either arterial or venous, analyzed individually, is influenced by the complex interaction between local and systemic processes.<sup>12</sup>

In the case presented here, screening for MTHFR gene mutation was performed due to the patient's age and lack of cardiovascular risk factors.

We found few cases with acute MI and MTHER gene mutation in the literature. The first report was published in 1997, on a 35-year-old male patient who presented with acute MI, a homozygous MTHFR gene mutation that led to hyperhomocysteinemia, and a heterozygous mutation of the Leiden V factor gene.<sup>13</sup> The patient also presented several risk factors for ischemic heart disease, including late onset type I diabetes and increased cholesterol level. The other described cases also presented a homozygote mutation (with or without other gene mutations), risk factors such as smoking, use of oral contraceptive medication, obesity, and developed myocardial infarction. The particularity of our case is that a heterozygote MTHFR gene mutation was found in a patient with no significant medical history and no cardiovascular risk factors who has been admitted under emergency conditions for acute myocardial infarction.

Establishing an accurate prognosis and predicting future adverse cardiovascular events in patients with MTH– FR gene mutation is far from easy, due to its heterogenous mutation process and various forms of clinical presenta– tion. Nevertheless, medical practitioners should have an outside-the-box approach to such patients, especially when young patients present with acute MI in the lack of any other cardiovascular risk factors.

#### CONCLUSIONS

When the presentation diagnosis is not explained by established pathophysiological mechanisms and there are no obvious and identifiable etiological explanations, clinicians should seek for rare causes that will eventually lead to a complex therapeutic approach, beneficial for both the patients and their families.

#### **CONFLICT OF INTEREST**

Nothing to declare.

#### REFERENCES

- Warren T, Barry V, Hooker S, Xuemei S, ChurchT, Blair S. Sedentary Behaviors Increase Risk of Cardiovascular Disease Mortality in Men. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2010;42:879–885. doi:10.1249/MSS.ob013e3181c3aa7e.
- 2. Maas A, Appelman Y. Gender differences in coronary heart disease. Neth Heart J. 2010;18:598–602.
- Kumar A, Cannon C. Acute Coronary Syndromes: Diagnosis and Management, Part I. Mayo Clin Proc. 2009;84:917–938.
- Previtali E, Bucciarelli P, Passamonti S, Martinelli I. Risk factors for venous and arterial thrombosis. Blood Tranfus. 2011;9:120–138. doi: 10.2450/2010.0066-10.
- 5. Li XY, Cheng F, Zhang AJ, et al. Folate Deficiency and Gene Polymorphisms of MTHFR, MTR and MTRR Elevate the Hyperhomocysteinemia Risk. Clin Lab. 2017;63:523–533. doi: 10.7754/Clin.Lab.2016.160917.
- Amrani-Midoun A, Kiando SR, Treard C, Jeunemaitre X, Bouatia-Naji N. The relationship between MTHFR C677T gene polymorphism and essential hypertension in a sample of an Algerian population of Oran city. Int J Cardiol. 2016;225:408-411. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.10.027.
- 7. Ganguly P, Alam SA. Role of homocysteine in the development of cardiovascular disease. Nutr J. 2015;14:6. doi: 10.1186/1475-2891-14-6.
- Nakai K, Naki K, HabanoW, Gurwitz D. Correlation between C677 T MTHFR gene polymorphism, plasma homocysteine levels and the incidence of CAD. Am J Cardiovasc Drugs. 2001;1:353–361.
- Zhang W, Wang M, Zhang P, et al. Role of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase 677C→T polymorphism in the development of myocardial infarction: evidence from an original study and updated meta-analysis, Genes Genom. 2016;38:809-817. doi: 10.1007/s13258-016-0424-4.
- Trabetti E. Homocysteine, MTHFR gene polymorphisms, and cardio-cerebrovascular risk. J Appl Genet. 2008;49:267-82. doi: 10.1007/BF03195624.
- Ezzat H, Attia F, Mokhtar A, et al. Prevalence of thrombophilic gene polymorphisms (FVL G1691A and MTHFR C677T) in patients with myocardial infarction. Egyptian Journal of Medical Human Genetics, 2014;15:113-123. http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.ejmhg.2014.02.001.
- Liew S, Gupta E. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) C677T polymorphism: Epidemiology, metabolism and the associated diseases, Eur J Med Genet. 2015;58:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.ejmg.2014.10.004.
- Ozgul M, Demircelik M, Gunes M, Eryoncu B. Recurrent Acute Coronary Syndromes With Normal Homocystein Level: A Mutation of MTHFR Gene. Gazi medical Journal. 2014;25:35– 36. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.12996/gmj.2014.09.





CASE REPORT

# Multiple Mediastinal Arteriovenous Fistulas in a Patient with Myocardial Ischemia Symptoms and Tachy-Brady Arrhythmias

István Kovács<sup>1</sup>, Sebastian Condrea<sup>2</sup>, Ioana Rodean<sup>2</sup>, Daniel Cernica<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Tîrgu Mureş, Romania

<sup>2</sup> Center of Advanced Research in Multimodality Cardiac Imaging, Cardio Med Medical Center, Tîrgu Mureș, Romania

#### ABSTRACT

Arteriovenous fistulas are abnormal vascular communications between the arterial and venous system and may lead to the development of arteriovenous shunts. These malformations are extremely rare, and their diagnosis can be difficult due to the lack of symptoms or the absence of hemodynamic consequences. In many cases, arteriovenous fistulas are discovered by chance. In this brief report, we present the case of a 31-year-old male with symptoms suggestive of angina pectoris, tachycardia-bradycardia syndrome and multiple episodes of syncope. Multi-slice computed tomography revealed the presence of multiple mediastinal fistulas connecting the aorta, superior vena cava, pulmonary veins and azygos system.

**Keywords:** arteriovenous fistulas, CT angiography, aorta, superior vena cava, pulmonary veins, azygos system

#### **ARTICLE HISTORY**

Received: 5 February, 2017 Accepted: 13 March, 2017

#### CORRESPONDENCE

#### Ioana Rodean

Str. 22 Decembrie 1989 nr. 76 540124 Tîrgu Mureş, Romania Tel: +40 265 217 333 E-mail: ioana\_patricia91@yahoo.com

# INTRODUCTION

Mediastinal vascular fistulas are the consequence of the abnormal variation of blood flow from one vessel to another and might develop between any arterial or venous structure.<sup>1–3</sup> Nowadays, arteriovenous fistulas are more frequently diagnosed, even in asymptomatic patients, during routine investigations, due to the improvement of imaging techniques.<sup>4</sup> Computed tomographic angiography (CTA) and conventional angiography are the goldstandard methods for diagnosing AV fistulas, being able to expose the convoluted pathways arising from abnormally connected vessels.<sup>1</sup> Congenital and acquired fistulas connecting the arterial and venous systems are exceedingly rare. Clinical status and physical examination may vary from an asymptomatic pattern to audible thoracic murmur, dyspnea, or cardiac insufficiency.<sup>1,5</sup>

The case of a young man presenting with symptoms of myocardial ischemia but with no invasive or noninvasive evidence of any heart disease is discussed in this paper. Thoracic CT angiography showed multiple mediastinal tortuous pathways between the descending aorta and the superior vena cava, the aorta and the left superior pulmonary vein, and the azygos vein and the right superior pulmonary vein.

#### **CASE REPORT**

AORTA

The case concerns a 31-year-old man, with no history of cardiovascular disease, admitted to the Cardio Medical Center in Tîrgu Mureş, Romania.

He complained of anterior constrictive chest pain and tightness and rapid palpitations, followed by episodes of bradycardia associated with dizziness, syncope and shortness of breath.

The patient gave informed consent allowing the publication of his data, and the institution where the patient had been admitted approved the publication of the case.

The patient's clinical signs and symptoms were suggestive of a tachycardia-bradycardia type arrhythmia, but initial investigations — physical examination and laboratory tests — showed no significant findings.

An electrocardiogram (ECG) performed during chest pain showed normal sinus rhythm with a frequency of 70 beats per minute (bpm) and negative T waves in DIII and V1–V4. Resting ECG also showed normal sinus rhythm with a frequency of 75 bpm and normal axis, but the T wave appeared to be flat in DIII and aVF, and negative T waves were seen in V1 and V2.

Echocardiography parameters were within normal ranges. However, the posterior and lateral pericardium appeared to have a higher echodensity than normal.

The patient also underwent cycle ergometer stress testing, which was positive for the alteration of myocardial perfusion. The test was stopped after 2 minutes (100 W) due to the dyspnea and dizziness, though there were no signs of any angina symptoms. During the cycle ergometer stress testing, the ECG showed T wave variations that became negative in DII, DIII, aVF, and V2–V5. After a twominute resting period, the patient's ECG returned to normal, with positive T waves in these leads.

Taking into consideration the palpitation symptoms, a Holter ECG was performed, which denoted three tachycardia events, with a maximum heart rate of 110 bpm, alternating with bradycardia episodes with a minimum heart rate of 30–40 bpm.

In order to assess the presence of possible coronary lesions, a CTA was performed, starting with the dynamic administration of 100 ml of non-ionic contrast material Iopamiro 370 (Patheon Italy SpA, Italy) at a rate of 5 ml/s, followed by 100 ml saline solution at 5 ml/s, via the right anterior cubital approach, followed by CT scanning using a Somatom Sensation 64 slices CT (Siemens, Erlangen, Germany). The examination was well tolerated, and there were no complications.

Three-dimensional post-processing programs — MPR, MIP, and reconstruction curved VRT — were used, and the examination showed a dominance of the right coronary

FIGURE 1. CTA showing arterial-venous fistula between azygos

vein and right superior pulmonary vein; aorta and superior vena cava; descending aorta and left superior pulmonary vein

**FIGURE 2.** CTA showing arterial-venous fistula between descending aorta and left superior pulmonary vein; aorta and superior vena cava





**FIGURE 3.** CTA showing fistula between azygos vein and superior right pulmonary vein



**FIGURE 4.** CTA showing fistula between the upper aorta and left superior pulmonary vein

artery, with the coronary arteries, pericardium, thoracic aorta, lungs, and pleura showing normal characteristics. Due to these normal results and the patient's subjective complaints of angina and palpitations, the investigation was extended, and the thoracic vessels were investigated in more detail. Following CT angiography, a diagnosis of AV fistulas located in the middle mediastinum was established. Small diameter tortuous vascular pathways interposed between the descending aorta and superior vena cava (Figure 1), the aorta and left superior pulmonary vein (Figures 2 and 3), and between the azygos and right superior pulmonary vein were identified (Figure 4).

The surgical team recommended the ligature of the venous fistulas between the descending aorta and superior vena cava, the aorta and left superior pulmonary vein, and the azygos and right superior pulmonary vein, but the patient refused the intervention.

During hospitalization, the patient was treated with anti-ischemic therapy, 25 mg of beta blocker (metoprolol 25 mg, two times per day, for an indefinite period, but with regular check-ups and re-assessment of treatment), with significant improvement of his symptoms, in the absence of surgical intervention.

#### DISCUSSION

Arteriovenous fistulas are extremely rare, being described in only a few cases in the literature.<sup>1</sup> Due to the similarity of cardiac and extra-cardiac symptoms associated with this condition, the diagnosis of these cases may be prob-lematic.<sup>6</sup>

Soler *et al.* reported that an AV fistula originating from the descending aorta and draining into the azygos vein is a very rare condition.<sup>6</sup> They attributed this malformation to abnormal connections between embryologic arterial and venous channels. The signs and symptoms associated with the presence of an AV fistula depend largely on the size of the fistula and the degree of resulting left-to-right shunting.<sup>7</sup> Several studies have suggested that the malformations of the great vessels and abnormal drainage can produce arrhythmias in patients with different types of AV fistula.<sup>8</sup>

The noninvasive diagnosis of this disease is based on thoracic multi-slice computed tomography, CT angiography, conventional angiography, magnetic resonance imaging, and radionuclide angiograms.<sup>1,9</sup>

Although in the past open surgical correction was the gold-standard of treatment of this disease, nowadays interventional treatment is preferred, including balloon occlusion, coiling embolization, and other occlusion devices such as the Gianturco coil or, more recently, the Gianturco-Grifka Vascular Occlusion Device (Cook Inc.).<sup>10–12</sup> Despite all new therapeutic techniques, the treatment procedure depends on the origin of the AV fistula. Large congenital fistulas may require surgical intervention. However, small ones may be treated conservatively.<sup>1</sup>

The case reported here is the first documented case of multiple mediastinal arterial-veno-venous fistulas, which was associated with a suggestive ECG pattern including negative T waves and positive cycle ergometer stress test. Moreover, another particularity of this case is that the patient was admitted several times because of his chest pain accompanied by tachy-brady arrhythmia and episodes of syncope, without any precise etiology. On his last admission with these symptoms, the decision was taken to perform a CTA, which revealed no evidence of coronary or pulmonary abnormalities. Additionally, CT angiography investigations revealed multiple small caliber fistulas in the mediastinum, between the descending aorta and the superior vena cava, the aorta and the left superior pulmonary vein, and the azygos vein and the right superior pulmonary vein.

### CONCLUSION

Thoracic arteriovenous fistulas are extremely rare malformations that are usually underdiagnosed due to equivalent signs and symptoms of other cardio-pulmonary and mediastinal conditions. Based on the complexity and the type of the shunt, the symptoms can vary from asymptomatic conditions to heart failure. Because of the lack of symptoms, in many cases, the diagnosis is made by chance. Hemodynamic consequences can be absent in small diameter shunts or can be substantial in large ones.

CTA, the gold-standard noninvasive imaging technique used for the assessment of these cases, linked with complex 3D post-processing techniques, can reveal the location of the malformations, assess their complexity and help guide treatment planning.

### **CONFLICT OF INTEREST**

Nothing to declare.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Martinez-Jimenez S, Heyneman LE, McAdams HP, et al. Nonsurgical Extracardiac Vascular Shunts in the Thorax: Clinical and Imaging Characteristics. RadioGraphics. 2010;10.1148/rg.e41.
- 2. Martinez–Jimenez S, Heyneman LE, McAdams HP, et al. The science and practice of pediatric cardiology. Radiographics. 2010;30:e41. doi: 10.1148/rg.e41.
- Sapire DW, Lobe TE, Swischuk LE, Casta A, Schwartz MZ, Droge M. Subclavian-artery-to-innominate-vein fistula presenting with congestive failure in a newborn infant. Pediatr Cardiol. 1983;4:155-157.
- 4. Ghandour A, Partovi S, Karuppasamy K, Rajiah P. Congenital anomalies of the IVC embryological perspectives and clinical relevance. Cardiovasc Diagn Ther. 2016;6:482-492. doi: 10.21037/cdt.2016.11.18.
- Romero FD, Fernández EM, Albelo TP, González HV, Gonzalez IA. Congenital aorto-azygous fistula treated with coil embolization: case report and review of the literature. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2006;29:907–910. doi: 10.1007/ s00270-005-0163-4.
- 6. Soler P, Mehta AV, Garcia OL, Kaiser G, Tamer D. Congenital systemic arteriovenous fistula between the descending aorta, azygos vein, and superior vena cava. Chest. 1981;80:647-649.
- 7. Recto MR, Elbl F. Transcatheter Coil Occlusion of a Thoracic Arteriovenous Fistula in an Infant with Congestive Heart Failure. Tex Heart Inst J. 2001;28:119–121.
- 8. Doig JC, Saito J, Harris L, Downar E. Coronary sinus morphology in patients with atrioventricular junctional reentry tachycardia and other supraventricular tachyarrhythmias. Circulation. 1995;92:436-441.
- Benson R, Songrug T. CT appearance of persistent left superior vena cava, anomalous right superior pulmonary venous return into the right sided superior vena cava and a sinus venosustype atrial septal defect. Br J Radiol. 2009;82:e235-e239. doi: 10.1259/bjr/27663006.
- Anderson JH, Wallace S, Gianturco C. Transcatheter intravascular coil occlusion of experimental arteriovenous fistulas. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1977;129:795-798.
- Bricelj V, Robida A. Coil occlusion of arteriovenous fistula of the vertebral artery in a child. Cathet Cardiovasc Diagn. 1998;43:434-437.
- 12. Ebeid MR, Braden DS, Gaymes CH, Joransen JA. Closure of a large pulmonary arteriovenous malformation using multiple Gianturco-Grifka vascular occlusion devices. Cathet Cardiovasc Interv. 2000;49:426–429.



# About JCE

# **EDITORIAL PROCESS**

All manuscripts submitted to JCE will be first subject to a technical review, including quality check of all the files submitted, including tables, figures and references. Plagiarism check will be performed prior to referring the manuscript for review, in order to identify any possible fraud or scientific misconduct.

After technical review and anti-plagiarism assessment, the articles will be referred for review following a doubleblinded review procedure. Reviewers can be suggested by the authors, however selection of the reviewers will be made by the editors, according to their expertise in the field of the article. The identity of the reviewers will not be disclosed to the authors, as well as the identity of the authors will not be disclosed to the reviewers.

The possible editorial decisions following the review procedure are: accepted, minor revisions required, major revisions required or rejected.

The editorial decision will be communicated to the authors as soon as the review process has been finalized. In case of revisions, the revised article will be sent to the reviewers, who will decide on a new recommendation for revision, acceptance or rejection. The estimated time from the submission to first decision is approximately 4 weeks, and from the final revision to acceptance approximately 2 weeks.

Prior to publication, all corresponding authors will receive a proof of their article in order to confirm the accuracy of the text or suggest modifications.

# PUBLICATION ETHICS AND PUBLICATION MALPRACTICE STATEMENT

The Journal of Cardiovascular Emergencies adheres to the COPE principles of transparency and best practice in scholarly publishing. The Journal ensures an equal treatment for all articles by the Editor, Editorial team and journal reviewers, and has strict rules for confidentiality, disclosures, conflict of interest and authorship. At the same time, the Journal has strict regulations against publication fraud and plagiarism and well defined procedures to be taken if a publication fraud is suspected.

### **CONFLICT OF INTEREST**

All participants in the peer-review and publication process — not only authors but also peer reviewers, editors, and editorial board members of journals — must consider their conflicts of interest when fulfilling their roles in the process of article review and publication and must disclose all relationships that could be viewed as potential conflicts of interest.

A conflict of interest exists when professional judgment concerning a primary interest (such as patients' welfare or the validity of research) may be influenced by a secondary interest (such as financial gain). Perceptions of conflict of interest are as important as actual conflicts of interest.

All manuscripts must acknowledge any possible conflict of interest related to the manuscript. If there is no conflict of interest in relation to the work performed or to the preparation of the manuscript, the authors should state that there are no conflict oif interest in relation to the manuscript. All the authors should also acknowledge any kind of material support, financial support or funding grants related to the work described in the manuscript.

Reviewers will be asked at the time they are asked to critique a manuscript if they have conflicts of interest that could complicate their review. Reviewers must disclose to editors any conflicts of interest that could bias their opinions of the manuscript, and should recuse themselves from reviewing specific manuscripts if the potential for bias exists. Reviewers must not use knowledge of the work they're reviewing before its publication to further their own interests.

Editors and Journal Staff Editors who make final decisions about manuscripts will recuse themselves from editorial decisions if they have conflicts of interest or relationships that pose potential conflicts related to articles under consideration. Editorial staff will not use information gained through working with manuscripts for private gain. In cases where the Managing Editor has any conflict of interest in connection with a manuscript, the entire work related to the review process of that manuscript will be undertaken by the Editor in Chief. In cases where the Editor in Chief has any conflict of interest in relation to a manuscript, the entire work related to the review process of that manuscript will be undertaken by the Managing Editor. In cases where both the Managing Editor and the Editor in Chief have any conflict of interest in relation to a manuscript, the entire work related to the review process of that manuscript will be undertaken by another member of the editorial board.

Submissions from members of the editorial board, editors and employees of the journal will be handled by the Editor in Chief, who will allocate the manuscripts for review to independent and blinded reviewers. Submissions from members of the owner institution will be assigned for review to members of the editorial board or external reviewers, taking into consideration the necessity to avoid any potential conflict of interest in the process of reviewer allocation.

Editorial manuscripts sent by members of the editorial board, following an invitation by the Editor-in-Chief, will undergo a review process in the editorial office.

#### CONFIDENTIALITY

Editors of JCE will not share information regarding the manuscripts submitted to JCE to any other than the authors and the reviewers. At the time of reviewer allocation, reviewers will be instructed to keep the manuscripts and associated material strictly confidential. Reviewers should not publicly discuss author's work and must not retain any manuscript for their personal use.

In case of manuscript rejection, the full content of the manuscript will be deleted from the editorial content of the Journal. In case of manuscript acceptance and publication, the Journal will keep copied of all the manuscript-related materials for at least three years.

The identity of the reviewers will not be revealed to authors, under no circumstances.

#### HUMAN AND ANIMAL RIGHTS

The authors should make sure that all the experiments on humans or animals are in accordance with the guiding principles described in the Declaration of Helsinki. Animal experiments should comply with the institutional and national guidelines or regulations for laboratory animals. Informed consent should be obtained from all the subjects participating in any experiment or clinical study and all the clinical studies should obtain the approval from the ethics committee of the institutions where the study is carried out, prior to initiation of experiments or studies.

When reporting research involving human data, authors should indicate whether the procedures followed have been assessed by the responsible review committee (institutional and national), or if no formal ethics committee is available, were in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration as revised in 2013 (www.wma.net/en/30publica tions/10policies/b3/ index.html). If doubt exists whether the research was conducted in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration, the authors must explain the rationale for their approach and demonstrate that the institutional review body explicitly approved the doubtful aspects of the study.

When reporting experiments on animals, authors should indicate whether institutional and national standards for the care and use of laboratory animals were followed. Further guidance on animal research ethics is available from the International Association of Veterinary Editors' Consensus Author Guidelines on Animal Ethics and Welfare (http://veteditors.org/ethicsconsensusguidelines.html).

#### **PROTECTION OF RESEARCH PARTICIPANTS**

In order to respect the patient's right to privacy, no information related to patients' identification data, such as names, images or hospital identification codes should be included in the manuscript, unless there is a clear written approval obtained from the patient for this. This signed approval should be sent to the editorial office along with the manuscript.

Identifying information, including names, initials, or hospital numbers, should not be published in written descriptions, photographs, or pedigrees unless the information is essential for scientific purposes and the patient (or parent or guardian) gives written informed consent for publication. Informed consent for this purpose requires that an identifiable patient be shown the manuscript to be published. When informed consent has been obtained, it should be indicated in the published article.

#### SCIENTIFIC MISCONDUCT

Scientific misconduct includes but is not necessarily limited to data fabrication; data falsification including deceptive manipulation of images; and plagiarism. All manuscript submitted to JCE will be first subject to a plagiarism check, that will be performed prior to referring the manuscript for review, in order to identity any possible fraud or scientific misconduct. The journal will use highly specialized anti-plagiarism softwares and if any suspicion of scientific misconduct is identified, the standard procedure recommended by COPE (Committee on Publication Ethics) will be followed.

### **CLINICAL TRIALS**

Authors of manuscripts related to clinical trials should register the clinical trial in the official clinical trial re-

lated public registries prior to submission to JCE, following the rules stated by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors. Information related to registration of clinical trials can be found at ClinicalTrials.gov. In case of clinical trials, the trial registration number should be mentioned at the end of the abstract. Whenever a trial registration number is available, the authors should list this number the first time they use the trial acronym.



# Instructions for authors

# MANUSCRIPT SUBMISSION

All manuscripts should be submitted via e-mail to **office@jce.ro**.

The journal does not have article processing charges nor article submission charges.

The submission should include the following attachments:

**1. Cover letter:** all manuscripts submitted to JCE should be accompanied by a cover letter, signed by the corresponding author on behalf of all co-authors, stating that the reported study and manuscript are original and have not been published elsewhere, and the manuscript has not been submitted "in extenso" to any other journal. All disclosures relating to the preparation of the manuscript should be mentioned in the cover letter. The corresponding author should state clearly whether or not there are any conflicts of interest.

**2.** License to publish: The Journal of Cardiovascular Emergencies requires authors of original papers to assign copyright of their published contributions to the journal. A model of the License to Publish is available at **www.jce.ro**.

Authorship is based on the following 4 criteria:

- 1. Substantial contributions to the conception or design of the work; or the acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data for the work; AND
- 2. Drafting the work or revising it critically for important intellectual content; AND
- 3. Final approval of the version to be published; AND
- 4. Agreement to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved. In addition to being accountable for the parts of the work he or she has done, an author should be able to identify which co-authors are responsible for specific other parts of the work. In addition, authors should have confidence in the integrity of the

contributions of their co-authors. All those designated as authors should meet all four criteria for authorship, and all who meet the four criteria should be identified as authors. Those who do not meet all four criteria should be acknowledged.

If authors request removal or addition of an author after manuscript submission or publication, journal editors should seek an explanation and signed statement of agreement for the requested change from all listed authors and from the author to be removed or added.

The corresponding author is the one individual who takes primary responsibility for communication with the journal during the manuscript submission, peer review, and publication process, and typically ensures that all the journal's administrative requirements, such as providing details of authorship, ethics committee approval, clinical trial registration documentation, and gathering conflict of interest forms and statements, are properly completed, although these duties may be delegated to one or more coauthors.

Authors should not submit the same manuscript simultaneously to more than one journal, in the same or different language.

# MANUSCRIPT TYPES

The Journal of Cardiovascular Emergencies accepts the following categories of articles:

#### **ORIGINAL RESEARCH**

Manuscripts should be word processed. The manuscript must contain the title of the article, the authors' names, qualifications and address/es.

Peer Review: all articles undergo initial screening for suitability for the Journal of Cardiovascular Emergencies.

The length of contributions: ideally contributions should be no more than 4,000 words, including tables and figures. Suitable papers are then peer reviewed by two or more referees. Additional specialist advice may be sought

if necessary, for example, from a statistician, before a final decision is made by the Editor-in-Chief.

An original research article should include a short **Abstract** of no more than 300 words, using the following headings: Background, Aim of the study, Material and Methods, Results and Conclusions.

The manuscript should be structured as follows:

**1. Introduction/Background:** This introduces the aim of the study and the corresponding research hypothesis/es.

2. Material and methods: This section should describe all experimental details, research methodology, and study groups. The methodology should be detailed enough to allow reproducibility of the experiments. Give full descriptions of all equipment used (Type, Manufacturer, Town, Country). Details of statistical analysis should be reported here together with a level of significance [ $\alpha$  value]. Authors should provide details of the statistical software package used. (name, version, producer, town, country). Abbreviations of standard SI units of measurement should be employed. Declaration of Helsinki: The authors should state that their study complied with the Declaration of Helsinki, that the locally appointed ethics committee approved the research protocol and that written informed consent was obtained from the subjects (or their guardians) before the commencement of the study. Where animal are involved, the authors should state that their study complies with their institutional guidelines for the care and use of laboratory animals.

**3. Results:** This section should present the data arising from the experiments and their statistical significance. Do not discuss these findings in the Result Section.

**4. Discussions:** This section should contain a detailed analysis and interpretation of the results. Results should not be repeated in the Discussion section.

**5. Conclusions:** This presents the conclusions deriving from the outcome of the study and their clinical significance if appropriate.

#### **CASE REPORTS**

Case reports are intended for the presentation of interesting cases of cardiovascular emergencies encountered in clinical practice and should refer toactual and uncommon cases.

The report should have an abstract limited to 200 words, structured in the following manner: Introduction, Case presentation, and Conclusions.

The manuscriptshould be no more than a maximum f 2000 words, excluding references, figures, and figure legends. It should be structured, Introduction, Case Presentation, Discussions, and Conclusions. A case presentation should have a maximum of four authors, twenty references, and five figures.

#### CASE SERIES

Case series should include an abstract limited to 200 words, structured, Introduction, Case series presentation, and Conclusions.

The manuscript should be no more than 2000 words excluding references, tables, figures and figure legends. Case series should have a maximum of four authors, twenty references, and five figures.

#### IMAGES IN CARDIOVASCULAR EMERGENCIES

This category is intended to facilitate the publishing of representative images related to any pathology representing a cardiovascular emergency. Accepted images may be published on the cover of the Journal. Images should be submitted as a figure accompanied by a clinical message that contains a description of the case and a detailed explanation of the figure, using a maximum of 300 words. For images in cardiovascular emergencies, the number of authors should be limited to four and the number of references to 10.

#### REVIEWS

The Journal of Cardiovascular Emergencies publishes review papers in any field of cardiovascular emergencies, of interest at international level. Review articles should include a non-structured abstract of no more than 200 words with a maximum of 6000 words excluding references, tables, and figures.

#### **CLINICAL UPDATE**

The Journal of Cardiovascular Emergencies publishes update articles that describe current advances in any clinical field related to cardiovascular emergencies. Articles should include a non-structured abstract of no more than 200 words with a maximum of 4500 words excluding references, tables, and figures.

#### LETTER TO THE EDITOR

Letters to the editor should address either a recently published article in the Journal of Cardiovascular Emergencies, or a new topic in the field of cardiovascular emergencies. Concerning a letter, discussing a recently published article, the comments contained in the letter will be forwarded to the authors of the original paper who will be invited to respond. Any response will be published in the same journal issue as the letter to the editor. A letter to the editor should be no longer than 500 words, 5 references, and three authors. No abstract is required.

#### **EDITORIAL**

Editorials should address either a particular topic that is currently of interest in the field of cardiovascular emergencies or to an article which is published in the same number of the journal. The number of references should not exceed twenty-five in total.

#### MANUSCRIPT CONTENT

**Style and spelling:** Authors, whose first language is not English, are requested to have their manuscripts checked carefully, preferably by an English native-speaker, before submission, to expedite the review process.

**Manuscript format:** The manuscript must be submitted as a Word document and should be presented in the following order:

- Title page.
- Abstract, or a summary of case reports (references should not be included in abstracts or summaries).
- Main text separated under appropriate headings and subheadings using the following hierarchy: BOLD CAPS, bold lower case, Plain text, italics.
- Tables should be in Word format and placed in the main text where the table is first cited. Tables must be cited in the main text in numerical order.
- Acknowledgements, Competing Interests, Funding, and all other required statements.
- Reference list.
- Images must be uploaded as separate files (view further details under the Figures/illustrations section). All images must be cited within the main text in numerical order, and legends should be provided at the end of the manuscript. Appendices should be uploaded using the File Designation "Supplementary File" and cited in the main text.

The contents of your manuscript should be arranged in the following order:

1. Title page – should include: (1) the title of the article;

(2) the name(s) of authors; (3) the institutional affiliations of the authors; (4) the position, institution, and location of all authors; (5) the telephone number, fax number and e-mail address of the corresponding author; (6) disclosure of grants, contracts and any other form of financial support received for the study.

- **2. Abstract** an abstract prepared in accordance to the type of the manuscript.
- 3. Keywords between 3 and 6 keywords.
- **4.** Full text All manuscripts should be typed doublespaced, in Times New Roman 12 fonts, using Word format. References, tables and figures should be cited in numerical order, as they appear in the text. The abbreviations should be explained the first time they appear in the text, followed by the abbreviation in brackets.
- **5. Acknowledgements** should indicate clearly any source of funding received for the study, including grants, research contracts or any form of financial support.
- **6. References.** References should be cited in numerical order, as they appear in the text, and should be indicated in superscript following the end of the sentence or the end of the part of the phrase they refer to.
- **7. Tables** should be typed on separate pages at the end of the manuscript and should be numbered in Arabic numerals in the order of mention in the text. The abbreviations used in the table should be explained in a footnote below the table. Tables should not repeat the text and should be clear enough to be self-explanatory.
- 8. Figures should be prepared in TIF or JPG format, at a resolution of minimum 300 dpi. For figures reproduced or adapted from another source, this should be labeled as "Reproduced with permission from..." or "Adapted with permission from..." and should be accompanied by written permission from both the author and publisher of the original material. Figures should be combined with a legend which clearly describes the illustration.

#### REFERENCE STYLE

The journal will publish the reference list according to the style of Index Medicus (or spelled out if not listed in Index Medicus). List all the authors in each reference following the format and punctuation indicated below as examples:

#### **Reference to an article**

1. Benedek I, Gyongyosi M, Benedek T. A prospective regional registry of ST-elevation myocardial infarction in Central Romania: impact of the Stent for Life Initiative recommendations on patient outcomes. Am Heart J. 2013;166:457-465. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2013.03.033.

#### Reference to a book

2. Nichols WW, Rourke MF. Aging, High Blood Pressure and Disease in Human. 3rd ed. London/Melbourne: Lea and Febiger, 1990.

#### Reference to a chapter in a book

3. Nichols WW, O'Rourke MF. Aging, high blood pressure and disease in humans. In: Arnold E, ed. McDonald's Blood Flow in Arteries: Theoretical, Experimental and Clinical Principles. 3rd ed. London/Melbourne/Auckland: Lea and Febiger, 1990; p. 398–420.

#### Reference to a webpage

4. Panteghini M. Recommendations on use of biochemical markers in acute coronary syndrome: IFCC proposals. eJIFCC 14. Available from: http://www.ifcc.org/ejifcc/ vol14no2/1402062003014n.htm [Accessed 28 May 2004]

#### COMPLAINTS

In cases where the authors wish to file a complaint, please contact the editorial office:

#### Journal of Cardiovascular Emergencies

Str. 22 Decembrie 1989 nr. 76–78, Tîrgu Mureş, Romania E-mail: office@jce.ro

Please describe the reason for complaining and specify the address for correspondence. Where the complaint is related to the editorial process, related to a manuscript, please include the name of the manuscript and the date the manuscript was submitted. The Editor-in-Chief, together with the editorial office will analyze the complaint and will answer in maximum three working days.